S-Matrix Bootstrap and Non-Invertible Symmetries

Christian Copetti^a, Lucía Córdova^b and Shota Komatsu^b

^a Mathematical Institute, University of Oxford, Woodstock Road, Oxford, OX2 6GG, United Kingdom

^b Department of Theoretical Physics, CERN, 1211 Meyrin, Switzerland

Abstract

We initiate the S-matrix bootstrap analysis of theories with non-invertible symmetries in (1+1) dimensions. Our previous work [1] showed that crossing symmetry of S-matrices in such theories is modified, with modification characterized by the fusion category data. By imposing unitarity, symmetry and the modified crossing, we constrain the space of consistent S-matrices, identifying integrable theories with non-invertible symmetries at the cusps of allowed regions. We also extend the modified crossing rules to cases where vacua transform in non-regular representations of fusion category, utilizing a connection to a dual category $C^*_{\mathcal{M}}$ and Symmetry Topological Field Theory (SymTFT). This highlights the utility of SymTFT in the analysis of scattering amplitudes.

Contents

1	Introduction and summary	3
	1.1 Introduction	3
	1.2 Summary	5
2	Non-invertible symmetries and kink scattering	6
	2.1 Categorical symmetry in $1 + 1$ dimensions $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	6
	2.2 Symmetric gapped phases and module categories	8
	2.3 Symmetry action on the kink Hilbert space	10
	2.4 Examples	14
	2.5 SymTFT description of kink scattering	15
	2.5.1 SymTFT and boundaries	15
	2.5.2 S-matrix of kinks and modified crossing	17
	2.5.3 Ward identities and projector basis	19
3	S-matrix bootstrap with fusion category symmetry	21
	3.1 Review of S-matrix bootstrap in $(1+1)d$	22
	3.2 Projector basis	25
	3.3 \mathcal{A}_n category	27
	3.4 Fibonacci category	29
4	Conclusion and future directions	32
\mathbf{A}	Flows from minimal models and preserved symmetry	33
в	$\mathcal{A}_5 ext{ and } \mathcal{A}_5/\mathbb{Z}_2 ext{ categories}$	34
С	Normalization of junctions and boundary bubbles	36
D	More on bootstrap and numerical implementation	37

1 Introduction and summary

1.1 Introduction

The idea of constraining quantum field theories using fundamental principles, such as symmetry, unitarity and causality originated in the 1960s. At that time, researchers aimed to understand the physics of strong interaction without knowing the underlying Lagrangian. These early efforts were eventually set aside following the discovery and successful application of quantum chromodynamics (QCD). However this idea, known as the *S-matrix bootstrap* program, has recently been revived [2,3]. Today it serves as a tool to explore the landscape of quantum field theories (QFTs), rather than focusing on a specific theory as was initially intended.

In parallel, a similar idea has been applied to conformal field theories (CFTs), which are quantum field theories with conformal symmetry. This approach, often called the *conformal bootstrap* program, achieved impressive success in 1+1 dimensions in the 1980s. More recently, with the aid of judicious numerical implementation, it has made remarkably precise predictions for theories of physical interest in higher dimensions, such as the Ising model in 2+1 dimensions [4].

Both bootstrap programs share a common philosophy: they use fundamental principles as inputs to delineate regions in theory space consistent with these principles. However, there is also a key difference. Most CFTs are "isolated," meaning small deformations typically break conformal symmetry. Partly due to this property, in the best cases the conformal bootstrap identifies a tiny "island" in parameter space, with theories of physical interest at the boundary of this region. In contrast, the landscape of quantum field theories is much broader. Most quantum field theories allow for continuous deformations by adjusting parameters like particle masses and interaction strengths. Thus, there is no guarantee that theories of our interest lie near the boundary¹ of the allowed region determined by the S-matrix bootstrap.

To narrow down the landscape carved out by the S-matrix bootstrap, one needs to input theoryspecific features. This can include data from observables, either computed from a theory or obtained from experiments. Alternatively, one can use detailed structures of the theory that distinguish it from others. In this paper, we take the latter approach; we discuss the interplay between the S-matrix bootstrap and a refined notion of symmetries intensively studied in the past few years, called *non-invertible symmetries*.

Non-invertible symmetries generalize the notion of symmetries in QFT. The key insight that led to this generalization is to identify symmetry operators with extended topological operators [5]. From this perspective, standard symmetries are special cases in which topological operators follow a group-like multiplication law, and more generally they obey *categorical* fusion algebras. Studies in recent years have shown that non-invertible symmetries are more common than initially thought [6–12]. However they are (or at least some of them are) still less ubiquitous than standard symmetries: for example, $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory has a non-invertible S-duality symmetry only when the coupling constant is tuned to a particular value [10] and requiring it to survive selects a subset of relevant deformations [13]. Thus incorporating such symmetries in the bootstrap program can potentially help narrow the search space and improve the bounds.

In addition, we showed in the previous paper [1] that non-invertible symmetries have direct

¹Important exceptions are theories in (1 + 1) dimensions for which integrable theories were found to lie at the boundary of the allowed region.

implications on the S-matrices. Specifically, in 1+1 dimensional theories with non-invertible symmetries, crossing symmetry is modified, with the modification characterized by the categorical data of these symmetries:

$$S_{dc}^{ab}(s) = \sqrt{\frac{\mathrm{d}_a \mathrm{d}_c}{\mathrm{d}_b \mathrm{d}_d}} S_{ad}^{bc}(t) \,. \tag{1}$$

Here s and t are Mandelstam variables and $d_{a,b,c,d}$ are quantum dimensions of the relevant fusion category [14–16]. See Section 2 for details.

Building on this finding, in this paper we initiate the S-matrix bootstrap for such theories by imposing unitarity and modified crossing relations. Below we outline several additional reasons why this analysis is of physical interest:

Modified crossing disallows trivial scattering. A simple yet important observation is that the modified crossing relation (1) cannot be satisfied by a trivial (non-interacting) S-matrix $S(s) = \pm 1$; this means that the modified crossing alone ensures that the theory is interacting. This contrasts with the standard S-matrix bootstrap, where unitarity and crossing allow for a noninteracting S-matrix, necessitating additional steps to focus on physically interesting theories. This feature can be potentially useful in higher dimensions, where methods to isolate physically relevant theories are less developed compared to 1 + 1 dimensions. We will come back to this point in Section 4 (Conclusion).

Bootstrap from IR to UV. Theories with non-invertible symmetries provide a unique arena for the bootstrap program, offering the possibility to bootstrap the dynamics from infrared (IR) to ultraviolet (UV), defying the standard renormalization group paradigm. As we explain below, non-invertible symmetries impose nontrivial constraints at every energy scale and the data bootstrapped at lower energy scale can be used as inputs for the bootstrap at higher energy scale.

- 1. *TQFT bootstrap:* In the deep IR, non-invertible symmetries constrain the number of vacua, often disallowing a single vacuum. The number of vacua and their symmetry actions can be determined by bootstrapping topological quantum field theory (TQFT). See [17–20] for recent analysis.
- 2. S-matrix bootstrap: The TQFT data bootstrapped in the IR determine the modified crossing relation, a fundamental input for the S-matrix bootstrap, as shown in our previous work [1] and this paper. In addition, non-invertible symmetries give constraints on the spectrum of particles as discussed in [21]. By bootstrapping the S-matrix using these data, one can constrain the dynamics of the theory along the renormalization group (RG) flow.
- 3. Integrable bootstrap: In the S-matrix bootstrap, integrable S-matrices often appear at the boundary of the allowed region. These S-matrices can be used to determine the finite volume spectrum of the theory through the Thermodynamic Bethe ansatz (TBA) [22]. Alternatively, one can impose the Yang-Baxter equation and look for integrable S-matrices directly.
- 4. *Conformal bootstrap:* By taking the UV limit of the finite volume spectrum, one can infer the spectrum of operators in the UV CFT. This data can then be used to constrain the UV CFT via the conformal bootstrap.

4^{*}. Form factor bootstrap: Even if integrable S-matrices are not found, progress can be made using the form factor bootstrap, see [23–26] for recent discussions. The resulting UV data can then be used in the conformal bootstrap. (See also [27] for a different approach that combines non-invertible symmetries and the conformal bootstrap.)

In this paper, we focus on the S-matrix bootstrap analysis. The interplay with integrability and TBA is a subject of the ongoing work [28].

1.2 Summary

Let us now summarize the punchlines of our paper.

Vacua in general representations. In our previous paper, we focused on the cases where vacua in the IR transform as the *regular representation* of the fusion category C. Physically, they correspond to the complete spontaneous symmetry breaking of C. In Section 2, we extend our analysis to vacua transforming in general representations of C, which correspond to partial symmetry breaking² of C, by identifying irreducible representations with simple lines in a dual category $C^*_{\mathscr{M}}$. Specifically, we derive Ward identities and modified crossing rules applicable to these broader cases. We will encounter one such example in Section 3.4 as an S-matrix saturating the bootstrap bound for Fibonacci fusion category.

Symmetry action on kinks and modified crossing from SymTFT. In Section 2.5, we develop a formalism to study symmetry actions on kinks interpolating between different vacua and their scattering amplitudes using Symmetry Topological Field Theory (SymTFT). SymTFT offers a universal and "holographic" framework for studying symmetries and anomalies. Its key advantage is decoupling theory-specific dynamics from the categorical structures of symmetries and anomalies. Applied to our context, it leads to a clean derivation of the symmetry action on kinks and their modified crossing rules, including the extension to general representations mentioned above. Furthermore, SymTFT can naturally extend to higher dimensions. Thus we hope that the results in this paper lay the groundwork for higher-dimensional generalizations of modification of crossing rules due to categorical symmetries.

S-matrix bootstrap for \mathcal{A}_n and Fibonacci fusion categories. By imposing the modified crossing rules together with unitarity and analyticity, we perform the S-matrix bootstrap analysis in Section 3. We focus on two well-known examples: the \mathcal{A}_n symmetry category, which is the symmetry preserved by e.g. the $\phi_{1,3}$ deformation of unitary minimal models³ \mathcal{M}_n , and the smallest non-invertible symmetry category, the Fibonacci fusion category (Fib). In the former case we perform the bootstrap analysis for the regular representation and the minimum spectrum required by symmetry, that is the set of kinks interpolating between neighboring vacua and no other stable particles such as bound states, and find that the known integrable models studied by Zamolodchikov [30] sit at vertices of the carved out parameter space. In the Fibonacci case, there are two vacua and the minimum spectrum consists of a kink, antikink and a breather which can

 $^{^{2}}$ See [17, 19, 20, 29] for the classification of gapped phases with various symmetry breaking patterns.

³In the simplest non-invertible case, $\mathcal{A}_4 = \mathbb{Z}_2$ Tambara-Yamagami is the symmetry of Ising CFT.

be interpreted as a kink-antikink bound state with a cubic coupling g. Once more integrable theories are found sitting at vertices of the allowed space: the $\phi_{2,1}$ deformation of the tricritical Ising CFT [31] and the 3-state Potts CFT deformed by the relevant operator $Z + Z^*$. The latter model is located at a vertex of the g = 0 slice of the allowed space, where we see a symmetry enhancement to Fib $\times \mathbb{Z}_2$.

Several future directions are discussed in Section 4. A few appendices are included to explain technical details.

Note Added: While this article was in preparation, the work [32], which has some overlap with Section 2, appeared in arXiv. We also became aware of related upcoming works [33, 34], which also have overlap with Section 2. We are grateful to the authors of [33, 34] for communications prior to their publications.

2 Non-invertible symmetries and kink scattering

The non-invertible symmetries discussed in this paper are spontaneously broken in the IR, at least partially, resulting in multiple degenerate vacua. This is due to anomalies, which forbid a unique gapped ground state. Stable particles around such degenerate vacua are typically kinks that interpolate between them.

In this section, we derive constraints on scattering amplitudes of these kinks imposed by noninvertible symmetries, which we will use in the bootstrap analysis in Section 3. Specifically, we extend our previous work [1] to cases where IR vacua transform in general representations of the fusion category C.

Section 2.1 begins with a brief review of fusion categories to establish the necessary notation. Our conventions will follow those in [15,16]. For more comprehensive introductions to the subject, we recommend [6,35–37]. Section 2.2 summarizes the fundamental concepts required to discuss symmetry actions on gapped vacua in 1+1 dimensions following [19], specifically focusing on C-symmetric topological field theories (TFTs). Next, in Section 2.3, we discuss kinks interpolating between different vacua and study how they organize into a multiplet of the fusion category. A clear physical formulation of this problem was recently given in [21], and we build upon their results by providing a way to identify irreducible multiplets with simple lines in a dual category $C_{\mathcal{M}}^*$. Section 2.4 presents several concrete examples relevant to the subsequent analysis. Finally in Section 2.5, we rephrase these concepts from the perspective of SymTFT, based on recent developments [33,34,38]. Using this SymTFT framework, we derive Ward identities and modified crossing rules for general C-symmetric S-matrices, setting the stage for the bootstrap analysis that follows.

2.1 Categorical symmetry in 1+1 dimensions

In 1+1 dimensional QFTs, symmetry operations need not be group-like. Instead, they are described by the more general structure of a (unitary) fusion category C [14]. A (simple) object L in C is an (indecomposable) topological line of the QFT, i.e., a line operator that commutes with the stress tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$.

Fusion of lines. Two lines \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{L}' can be fused to form a new line $\mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L}'$, with the fusion product also belonging to \mathcal{C} :

The fusion coefficients $N_{\mathcal{LL}'}^{\mathcal{L}''}$ are non-negative integers representing the dimension of the vector space of trivalent topological junctions⁴:



(5)

By a judicious choice of the basis of junctions, the orthogonality and completeness relations for these vector spaces take the form:

$$\begin{array}{c|c}
\mathcal{L}' \\
\mathcal{L}_{u} \\
\mathcal{L}_{v} = \sqrt{\frac{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}_{u}}\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}_{v}}}{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}}}} \delta_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'} \delta_{xy} \\
\mathcal{L} \\
\mathcal$$

Lines are typically oriented, with the orientation reversal \mathcal{L}^{\vee} being the unique line in \mathcal{C} such that $\mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L}^{\vee} = \mathbb{1} + \dots$

In what follows, we will make the following simplifications:

- We will omit the label x of the basis vectors of junctions since $N_{\mathcal{LL}'}^{\mathcal{L}''} = 0$ or 1 in our examples, resulting in no loss of generality.
- We will focus on cases where lines are self-dual (i.e. $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}^{\vee}$). Thus we will dispense with orientation to simplify notation.

Quantum dimensions. The expectation value of a loop gives the so-called quantum dimension $d_{\mathcal{L}}$ of the line \mathcal{L}



⁴This can be shown by considering radial quantization around the junction. See [6] for details.

It is possible to prove that $d_{\mathcal{L}} \geq 1$, with the inequality saturated if and only if the \mathcal{L} line is *invertible*, i.e. it is an element of some (possibly non-abelian) symmetry group.⁵

F-symbol and pentagon equation. The fusion product is associative: $(\mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L}') \times \mathcal{L}'' = \mathcal{L} \times (\mathcal{L}' \times \mathcal{L}'')$, which implies $\sum_{\mathcal{L}_u} N_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'}^{\mathcal{L}_u} N_{\mathcal{L}_u\mathcal{L}''}^{\mathcal{L}'''} = \sum_{\mathcal{L}_v} N_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}_v}^{\mathcal{L}_v} N_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}_v}^{\mathcal{L}'''}$. At the level of junction spaces, this requires the existence of an isomorphism F, called the *associator* or *F-symbol* of \mathcal{C} :



The F-symbols are strongly constrained by the pentagon equation [42], which schematically reads



It is known that solutions to these equations modulo gauge transformations (i.e. unitary change of the basis for $V_{\mathcal{LL}'}^{\mathcal{L}'}$) do not admit smooth deformations, implying that fusion categories are 'rigid' structures [43]. Below, we often use the so-called *tetrahedral symbols*, defined by

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{L}_1 & \mathcal{L}_2 & \mathcal{L}_3 \\ \mathcal{L}_4 & \mathcal{L}_5 & \mathcal{L}_6 \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}_3}\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}_6}}} \left[F_{\mathcal{L}_5}^{\mathcal{L}_1\mathcal{L}_2\mathcal{L}_4} \right]_{\mathcal{L}_3\mathcal{L}_6} \,. \tag{8}$$

2.2 Symmetric gapped phases and module categories

To understand the interplay between solitons (kinks) and generalized symmetries, we need to examine the symmetry action on gapped vacua within the framework of C-symmetric TFT (see e.g. [19] for in-depth discussions and [20]). This mathematical background, reviewed below, enables us to generalize the findings of [1] to situations where non-invertible symmetries are partially broken in the IR. Such scenarios occur, for example, in the RG flows starting from D-series minimal models, including a specific case of $Z + Z^*$ deformation of the 3-state Potts CFT, discussed in Section 3.

The input data, apart from the symmetry category C, is a set of boundary conditions $|a\rangle\rangle$, which are in one-to-one correspondence with the Hilbert space of the theory on a circle \mathcal{H}^{S^1} . The action of the topological lines \mathcal{L} of C on these boundary conditions (b.c.) is encoded in a set of consistent topological junctions between boundaries and lines (see Figure 1), which endow them with the

⁵In the present discussion we disregard the possibility of a non-trivial Frobenius-Shur indicator $\epsilon = -1$, which is possible for self-dual lines. Some physical implications of this quantity are discussed e.g. in [6,39–41].

$$a \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} b \qquad a \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \mathcal{L}' = \sum_{\mathcal{L}''} \varphi^{abc}_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''} a \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} \mathcal{L}''$$

Figure 1: Topological junction defining a module category \mathcal{M} over \mathcal{C} (Left). Boundary *F*-symbols implementing fusion of topological lines on the boundary (Right).

mathematical structure of a module category \mathscr{M} over \mathcal{C} [14].⁶ These junction spaces are also vector spaces and we will denote their dimension by $(n_{\mathcal{L}})_a^b$. As before we will suppress the index for these junctions since $(n_{\mathcal{L}})_a^b = 0$, 1 in all our examples. Multiplication over these indices is denoted by \cdot in the formulas below. The fusion product of bulk lines attached to a boundary is given by a boundary *F*-symbol⁷ $\varphi_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''}^{abc}$ (Figure 1), which is subject to the boundary pentagon equation⁸

$$\sum_{\mathcal{L}_{u}} \left[F_{\mathcal{L}_{v}}^{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''} \right]_{\mathcal{L}_{u}\mathcal{L}'_{u}} \varphi_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}_{u}}^{abc} \cdot \varphi_{\mathcal{L}_{u}\mathcal{L}''\mathcal{L}_{v}}^{acd} = \varphi_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'_{u}\mathcal{L}_{v}}^{abd} \cdot \varphi_{\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''\mathcal{L}'_{u}}^{bcd},$$
(10)

that comes from the consistency of the following set of moves



In addition, compatibility between the dimensions of the vector spaces on the two sides of the right figure of Figure 1 implies the relation

$$\sum_{b} (n_{\mathcal{L}})^b_a (n_{\mathcal{L}'})^c_b = \sum_{\mathcal{L}''} N^{\mathcal{L}''}_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'} (n_{\mathcal{L}''})^c_a \,. \tag{12}$$

Different solutions $(n_{\mathcal{L}})_a^b$ to these equations are known as NIM (non-negative integer matrix) representations of the module category. The analogue of the bulk quantum dimension is given by the relative Euler terms g_a of the boundary conditions. These can be defined as the partition

$$\varphi^{abc}_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''} \simeq \varphi^{abc}_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''} \, u^{\mathcal{L}}_{ab} u^{\mathcal{L}'}_{bc} (u^{\dagger})^{\mathcal{L}''}_{ac} (U^{\dagger})^{\mathcal{L}''}_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'} \,. \tag{9}$$

⁶See e.g. [44–48] for earlier studies of this type of representation.

⁷Our convention in labelling the indices differs from other works, e.g. $\varphi^{abc}_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''} = (\tilde{F}^{c}_{\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}a})^{-1}_{\mathcal{L}''b}$ in [21]. In the regular representation φ becomes the regular F-symbol $\varphi^{abc}_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''} = F^{a\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'}_{c}{}_{b\mathcal{L}''}$. ⁸Notice that the boundary F-symbols $\varphi^{abc}_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''}$ suffer from a large amount of redundancy stemming from a choice

⁸Notice that the boundary *F*-symbols $\varphi_{\mathcal{LL}'\mathcal{L}''}^{abc}$ suffer from a large amount of redundancy stemming from a choice of basis of the bulk-boundary junction space. Denoting a unitary change of basis of boundary junctions by $u_{ab}^{\mathcal{L}}$ and for bulk junctions by $U_{\mathcal{LL}'}^{\mathcal{L}''}$ we have that

$$\mathcal{H}_{a,b} \simeq \begin{bmatrix} \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & & & & \\ & \ddots & & & \\ & a & b & & a & b & & c & d \end{bmatrix} = \sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}}} [\mathcal{L}]_{ab}^{cd} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & &$$

Figure 2: The kink Hilbert space as an interval Hilbert space (Left). Symmetry action on \mathcal{H}_{ab} by pushing down the \mathcal{L} line. The dots denote the topological junctions of the module category \mathscr{M} of vacua.

function of the TFT on the disk with b.c. $|a\rangle$:

$$g_a = \tag{13}$$

Their overall scale is unphysical due to the finite Euler counterterm on the disk, but their ratios g_a/g_b are physical observables.

2.3 Symmetry action on the kink Hilbert space

Having reviewed the symmetry actions on gapped vacua, we now discuss the symmetry actions on kinks that interpolate between different vacua.

Review of [21]. We start by briefly reviewing [21]. Following them, we will describe a state in the kink Hilbert space $|\psi_{a,b}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{ab}$ as the $L \to \infty$ limit⁹ of the strip Hilbert space with boundary conditions a, b at the two ends. These should be identified with vacua of the IR gapped phase, see Figure 2. An excitation in this Hilbert space describes a solitonic field configuration interpolating between the vacua a at $x \to -\infty$ and b at $x \to +\infty$ — that is— a massive kink K_{ab} of the theory. We therefore identify the strip Hilbert space with the Hilbert space of kinks. For a special case of a = b, the excitations do not change the vacuum, and they are often called *breathers* B_a .

A topological line \mathcal{L} stretching between the left and right boundaries defines a map $[\mathcal{L}]_{ab}^{cd}$: $\mathcal{H}_{ab} \to \mathcal{H}_{cd}$ by being pushed downwards, as shown in Figure 2. Choosing the bases $|\psi_{ab}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{ab}$ and $|\psi_{cs}\rangle \in \mathcal{H}_{cd}$, this reads

$$\mathcal{L}|\psi_{ab}\rangle = \sum_{\psi_{cd}} \sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}}} \left[\mathcal{L}\right]_{ab}^{cd} |\psi_{cd}\rangle.$$
(14)

Here we introduced the factor of $\sqrt{d_{\mathcal{L}}}$ for later convenience. The composition of \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{L}' actions

⁹More precisely the dimensionless parameter $ML \gg 1$, where M is the mass of the lightest kink.

can be evaluated by applying the definition twice or by using the boundary F-symbols:



The consistency between the two leads to the identity,

$$[\mathcal{L}']^{ef}_{cd} \cdot [\mathcal{L}]^{cd}_{ab} = \sum_{\mathcal{L}''} \varphi^{ace}_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''} \varphi^{cdf}_{\mathcal{L}\mathcal{L}'\mathcal{L}''} [\mathcal{L}'']^{ef}_{ab} .$$
(16)

Kinks $K_{a,b}^v$ and breathers B_a^v form irreducible representations (irreps) v of this algebra. Importantly, a multiplet can contain both kinks $K_{a,b}^v$ and breathers B_a^v , leading to degeneracy in mass [21].

Relation to dual category. We now build on [21] and give a simple characterization of such irreps using a relation to the dual category. The key idea is to interpret a module category \mathcal{M} as an interface between a QFT with symmetry \mathcal{C} and a QFT with a *dual category* symmetry $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathcal{M}}$, obtained from \mathcal{C} by generalized orbifolding.¹⁰ Mathematically, the interface provides a category of bimodules over $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathcal{M}}$ - \mathcal{C} . In practice, it introduces "dual" boundary *F*-symbols $(\varphi^*)^{abc}_{vv'v''}$ and an isomorphism $[\mathcal{L}; v]$ allowing us to commute junctions on the two sides:

$$v \xrightarrow{c} \mathcal{L} = \sum_{d} [\mathcal{L}; v]_{ab}^{cd} \qquad v \xrightarrow{c} d \xrightarrow{c} \mathcal{L}$$

$$(17)$$

Similarly to how the pentagon equation is derived, one can show that $[\mathcal{L}; v]$ satisfies (16), which suggests a relationship between a dual category and a representation of the algebra (16). The

¹⁰To be precise, generalized orbifolding corresponds to gauging a symmetric separable Frobenius algebra object \mathcal{A} of \mathcal{C} [18, 49]. The dual symmetry $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathscr{M}}$ is identified with the category of \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{A} bimodules $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{A}}$. We will not need details of this construction for the purpose of this paper. However see [50] for a physics motivated discussion about the relation between gauging and module categories and [51] for a recent rephrasing of the gauging prescription.

connection can be made more explicit by computing the action of \mathcal{L} using the following diagram,

$$c \xrightarrow{a \quad b} d = \sqrt{\frac{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}} g_b}{g_d}} [\mathcal{L}; v]_{ab}^{cd} c \xrightarrow{d} d$$
(18)

where the extra $\sqrt{\frac{d_{\mathcal{L}}g_b}{g_d}}$ factor comes from the expectation value of a half loop of \mathcal{L} anchored on the interface:

$$b \xrightarrow{\mathcal{L}} c = \sqrt{\frac{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}} g_a}{g_b}} \delta_{bc} b \xrightarrow{b} b$$
(19)

This follows from a particular choice of normalization for junction vector spaces, explained in Appendix C.

By performing a radial quantization around a junction of v, we can interpret this as the action of \mathcal{L} on the strip Hilbert space, i.e. the action on kinks¹¹:

$$\mathcal{L} \cdot K_{a,b} = \sum_{K_{cd}} \sqrt{\frac{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}} g_b}{g_d}} \left[\mathcal{L}; v \right]_{ab}^{cd} K_{c,d} \,.$$
(20)

Comparing this with (14), we find that $\sqrt{g_b/g_d}[\mathcal{L}; v]$ and $[\mathcal{L}]$ can be identified. In addition, it is straightforward to check the extra factor $\sqrt{g_b/g_d}$ does not affect the relation (16), and therefore $\sqrt{g_b/g_d}[\mathcal{L}; v]$ provides a representation of the algebra (16). In particular, the representation is irreducible if the line v is a simple line of $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathscr{M}}$.

This establishes that simple lines in the dual category $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathscr{M}}$ correspond to irreps of the algebra (16). In fact, the converse is also true [52]: irreps of (16) are in one-to-one correspondence with simple lines in $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathscr{M}}$. Based on this correspondence, we will represent the restriction of the kink Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_{ab} to a given representation v by a path integral with a dual v line insertion at the bottom¹²:

A SymTFT description of this picture will be given in Section 2.5.

¹¹Note that $\sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}}g_b/g_d}[\mathcal{L};v]$ cannot be directly identified with a matrix element of \mathcal{L} in $\mathcal{H}_{a,b}$ since kink states $K_{a,b}$ are not properly normalized here. See [1] for related discussions for the regular representation. The normalization of kink states will be taken into account when we derive the Ward identity in Section 2.5.

¹²Here we are talking about the full QFT, not just IR TQFT. Thus the bottom junction should not be thought of as topological.

The relation (16) is one of the consistency conditions for the bimodule category. In addition, compatibility with the fusion structure of v lines

$$v \times v' = \sum_{v''} N^{*v''}_{vv'} v'', \qquad (22)$$

leads to other consistency conditions like

$$[\mathcal{L}; v \times v']_{ab}^{cd} = \sum_{v''} N^{*v''}_{vv'} [\mathcal{L}; v'']_{ab}^{cd} ,$$

$$\sum_{f} (\varphi^*)_{v'v''v}^{dfe} [\mathcal{L}; v']_{ab}^{df} [\mathcal{L}; v'']_{cb}^{ef} \sqrt{\frac{g_b g_e}{g_f g_c}} = (\varphi^*)_{v'v''v}^{abc} [\mathcal{L}; v]_{ac}^{de} .$$

$$(23)$$

Selection rules. The structure we have explained gives strong constraints on the spectrum of bound states, as the dual category $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathscr{M}}$ is also endowed with its own fusion ring structure (22). For example, we may wonder if, given a multiplet of kinks $K^v_{a,b}$, the breathers in this multiplet can be realized as bound states of kinks:

$$B_a^v \sim K_{a,b}^v K_{b,a}^v \,. \tag{24}$$

A necessary condition for this to happen is $N^{*v}_{vv} \neq 0$. If $N^{*v}_{vv} = 0$ instead, the cubic coupling between two kinks and the breather must vanish. We will encounter an example of this phenomenon related to the deformation of 3-state Potts CFT in the study of Fibonacci-symmetric S-matrices in Section 3.

Remarks.

- While our formulas are simple and general, computing the data φ, φ^* and $[\mathcal{L}; v]$ for a given $(\mathcal{C}, \mathscr{M})$, can be challenging. For small categories \mathcal{C} , this can be done semi-analytically, but systematic implementation, such as in computer-algebra programs, is hindered by large gauge redundancy, making it difficult to identify physically distinct solutions. Comprehensive results exist in the literature for specific symmetries like discrete groups [53] and Tambara-Yamagami categories (generalizations of Ising symmetry) [54]. However, for other categories, such as the Haagerup category \mathcal{H}_3 mentioned in the introduction, the full structure is still undetermined [55]. Another useful tool for computing the boundary F-symbols φ and φ^* is the internal-Hom construction of Ostrik [52], which relates the boundary F-symbols to the data of the generalized gauging \mathcal{A} connecting \mathcal{C} with $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathcal{M}}$. See also Appendix A of [50] for explicit expressions.
- The structures discussed above do not directly determine to which symmetry multiplet K^v excitations of a given theory belong. This information needs to be manually input in the bootstrap analysis. Typically, it can be inferred by studying allowed field configurations between vacua, which encode the dual representation coefficients $(n_v)_a^b$. However, this method can be inadequate especially if some symmetry remains unbroken in the IR (i.e. if $\mathcal{M} \neq Reg$, the regular module category).¹³ An alternative approach that works in some cases is to identify the kink creation operator in the UV theory, which lives in the twisted Hilbert space

¹³In many such cases the model is related to one in which the SSB is maximal by a generalized orbifold. One can then study the spectrum of kinks in the orbifolded theory and map it back to the original system.

of the v line [1]. However, to the best of our knowledge, there is no universally applicable procedure to extract this information.

2.4 Examples

Regular representation. The simplest example is the regular module category $\mathcal{M} = Reg$, which describes the complete spontaneous breaking of the non-invertible symmetry. In this case the boundary conditions are isomorphic to the space of lines, and there exists an "identity" b.c. $|1\rangle$ such that:

$$|\mathcal{L}\rangle\rangle = \mathcal{L}|1\rangle\rangle. \tag{25}$$

The NIM coefficients are identified with the fusion coefficients of \mathcal{C} : $n_{\mathcal{LL}'}^{\mathcal{L}'} = N_{\mathcal{LL}'}^{\mathcal{L}'}$ and the boundary F-symbols are just bulk F-symbols. The regular module implements a trivial interface, which means $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathcal{M}} = \mathcal{C}$ and therefore from (17) we see that $[\mathcal{L}; v]$ is simply the bulk F-symbol:

$$[\mathcal{L}; v]_{ab}^{cd} = F_b^{\mathcal{L}cv}{}_{ad} = \sqrt{\mathbf{d}_a \mathbf{d}_d} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{L} & c & a \\ v & b & d \end{bmatrix}.$$
(26)

The regular representation appears in the study of e.g. the deformation of the unitary minimal models \mathcal{M}_n by the relevant $\phi_{1,3}$ operator. The theory, with the negative sign of the deforming operator, is known to flow to a set of n-1 gapped vacua which form the regular representation of the \mathcal{A}_n category. The interested reader can find more detailed material about these flows and the preserved symmetry in Appendix A.

Fib and Fib $\times \mathbb{Z}_2$. As a second example we consider theories with Fibonacci symmetry:

$$1, W, \quad W^2 = 1 + W, \tag{27}$$

and its \mathbb{Z}_2 extension Fib $\times \mathbb{Z}_2$:

1,
$$W$$
, η , $W' = \eta W$. (28)

The Fibonacci symmetry admits a single module category (the regular one) with two vacua. Kinks between these vacua belong to the W multiplet [21]:

$$K_{1,W}^W, K_{W,1}^W, B_W^W,$$
 (29)

and the breather B_W^W can be interpreted as a bound state of two kinks $K_{W,1}^W \times K_{1,W}^W$. A more interesting situation appears if one studies RG flows from D-series minimal models. The first nontrivial example is a gapped RG flow from the Potts model triggered by the $Z + Z^*$ deformation [6]. This has been studied in the integrability literature by using the parafermion description [56]. Also, it is the \mathbb{Z}_2 -orbifolded version of the \mathcal{A}_5 -preserving flow $\mathcal{M}_{5,4} + \phi_{1,3}$.¹⁴ The symmetry preserved in the Potts description is Fib $\times \mathbb{Z}_2$ and the theory flows to two gapped vacua 1, W. This is not the Regular TFT for the total symmetry, as the \mathbb{Z}_2 is unbroken. The kink multiplets are labelled by lines in the \mathcal{A}_5 category:

$$1, \widetilde{W}, \widetilde{\eta}, \widetilde{W}', \tag{30}$$

¹⁴To be precise, Fib × \mathbb{Z}_2 describes the fusion ring of the symmetry category. There are various choices of *F*-symbols given this Fusion ring, we will denote them by \mathcal{A}_5 and $\mathcal{A}_5/\mathbb{Z}_2$. The symmetry category of Potts is $\mathcal{A}_5/\mathbb{Z}_2$.



Figure 3: The SymTFT sandwich construction of a theory X (Left) and its representation of symmetries and charged operators (Right).

and the kink is identified with the \widetilde{W}' line, corresponding to the first node of the A_5 Dynkin diagram. The kink multiplet is now:

$$K_{1,W}^{\widetilde{W}'}, K_{W,1}^{\widetilde{W}'}, B_W^{\widetilde{W}'}.$$

$$(31)$$

However the fusion rule

$$\widetilde{W}' \times \widetilde{W}' = 1 + \widetilde{W}. \tag{32}$$

now implies that the breather $B_W^{\widetilde{W}'}$ is *not* a kink-antikink bound state (although, being part of the same multiplet, they are still degenerate in mass). We will see later that this has nontrivial consequence on the structure of the S-matrix for this flow.

2.5 SymTFT description of kink scattering

We now explore kink scattering using the SymTFT framework for boundary conditions, developed in recent works [33, 34] (see also [38] and [57]).

The primary advantage of this approach is its ability to decouple the dynamics of the theory from the structure of symmetries, disentangling in our case the symmetry action from the dynamical data of a scattering process. This perspective allows us to discuss various symmetry aspects, such as representations and 't Hooft anomalies, independently of the specific QFT involved. Though the formalism is relatively new $[58]^{15}$, it has already been applied to a range of areas, including the analysis of representations [60, 61] and 't Hooft anomalies [62, 63] for non-invertible symmetries in higher dimensions, as well as the description of symmetric gapped phases and their transitions in (1+1) dimensions [20, 57, 64, 65]. In theories with a holographic dual, the SymTFT can be derived by reduction over the compact dimensions, as pioneered in [66]. See also e.g. [67-69]. While primarily applied to discrete symmetries, extensions to continuous symmetries have been discussed recently [70-74].

Below we will not provide a comprehensive review of the SymTFT formalism. The interested reader can refer to [58,66] for a more complete exposition.¹⁶ More detailed analysis of the interplay between SymTFT and boundary conditions will be presented elsewhere [34].

2.5.1 SymTFT and boundaries

Basics of SymTFT. Let us briefly introduce the basic concepts. The SymTFT framework separates the dynamical QFT data from the rigid symmetry action by introducing a (d + 1)-dimensional bulk. This approach is particularly powerful and explicit in (1+1) dimensions, while

¹⁵Early examples however date back to e.g. [49, 59].

¹⁶Also, the interested reader can consult some of the recent papers on the subject, e.g. [62, 63, 65, 69–71, 74–82].

it is less explored in higher dimensions [62,63]. Below we focus on (1+1) dimensions. We associate to a QFT X with symmetry category C a triplet

$$(\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{C}), \mathscr{L}, X_{rel}),$$
 (33)

where $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{C})$ is a 3d TQFT whose spectrum of lines forms the *Drinfeld center* of \mathcal{C} [14], \mathscr{L} is a topological (gapped) boundary condition for $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{C})$ and X_{rel} is a free boundary condition coupling the bulk to the dynamical d.o.f. of X. The topological boundary condition is technically described by a Lagrangian algebra object \mathscr{L} in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{C})$.¹⁷ This setup provides a "sandwich" realization of the theory X, as illustrated in Figure 3. The symmetry \mathcal{C} is realized by topological line operators confined to the gapped boundary condition \mathscr{L} , while local charged operators (representations of the symmetry) are implemented by lines $\ell \in \mathscr{L}$ terminating on the gapped surface. The symmetry action then follows from the bulk braiding (see Figure 3).

The "decoupling" between symmetries and dynamical data can be achieved by inserting a resolution of identity of 3d TQFT at an intermediate location along the interval; the procedure known as *bulk surgery*. Specifically, for a bulk geometry $\Sigma \times I$, we select a basis $|\psi\rangle$ of the $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{C})$ Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_{Σ} on Σ (possibly with punctures corresponding to insertions of lines along I) and insert a resolution of identity in their path integral:



This separates the initial geometry into two pieces with the left piece encoding all the information on the C-symmetry, while the right piece carries the dynamical information.

Boundaries and kink multiplet. The framework above can be extended to include boundaries [33, 34, 38, 57]. A boundary condition corresponding to an irreducible object $a \in \mathcal{M}$ (where \mathcal{M} is a module category over \mathcal{C}) for the QFT X is represented by a second topological boundary $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}}$ associated with the dual symmetry $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathcal{M}}$, which interpolates between X_{rel} and \mathcal{L} , together with the choice of a distinct junction a between \mathcal{L} and $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{M}}$. See Figure 4.



Figure 4: SymTFT representation of a boundary condition for X (Left) and its boundary operators (Right).

Symmetry lines \mathcal{L} on the left boundary \mathscr{L} can terminate topologically on the interfaces a, b, c...endowing them with the structure of a module category over \mathcal{C} . On the other hand, lines $v \in \mathcal{C}^*_{\mathscr{M}}$

¹⁷A Lagrangian algebra is a line algebra $\mathscr{L} = \sum_{\lambda} Z_{\lambda} \lambda$ which is associative, commutative and whose dimension is maximal $d_{\mathscr{L}}^2 = \sum_{\lambda} d_{\lambda}^2$. For a precise description see [83–87].

along $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{M}}$ describe a boundary-changing operator, whose multiplet is labelled by v. This is exactly the kink multiplet K_{ab}^{v} we have previously described. The symmetry \mathcal{C} acts on it by half-braiding on the topological boundary \mathscr{L} [33, 34, 38]:

$$\mathcal{L} \stackrel{d}{\underset{c}{\overset{d}{\overset{d}}}} \underbrace{v}_{c} = \sqrt{\frac{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{L}} g_{b}}{g_{d}}} [\mathcal{L}; v]_{ab}^{cd} \stackrel{d}{\underset{c}{\overset{d}{\overset{d}}}} \underbrace{v}_{c}$$
(35)

To make contact with our previous description of the symmetry action on the interval Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_{ab} , we consider a bulk geometry with two topological boundaries $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{M}}$ encasing \mathscr{L} on both ends. This describes the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{a,b}$ for the theory X. As discussed in the previous subsection, states in this Hilbert space are in irreps of the relevant symmetry algebra (16), specified by a line $v \in \mathcal{C}^*_{\mathcal{M}}$. In the SymTFT description, this corresponds to considering the following configuration, where the v line stretches along $\mathscr{L}_{\mathscr{M}}$ connecting \mathscr{L} and X_{rel} while the symmetry lines \mathcal{L} sit on the left topological boundary \mathscr{L} :



In what follows, we will use this description to study implications of categorical symmetries on the scattering of kinks.

2.5.2 S-matrix of kinks and modified crossing

We will now generalize the results of [1] using the SymTFT framework.

To define the S-matrix of kinks, we follow [1] and consider a correlation function on a (Euclidean) disk with insertions of boundary-changing operators that create kinks. This correlation function describes the scattering process, after the analytic continuation to Lorentzian kinematics and performing appropriate Fourier transformations on Cauchy slices (see e.g. [88, Ch. 5] for details). As a result, we obtain a schematic relation

Here the right hand side represents the analytically-continued disk correlation function, a-d label the vacua, s is the Mandelstam variable. In the SymTFT framework discussed above, the right

hand side of (37) admits the following three-dimensional description:

$$S_{dc}^{ab}(s) \propto \qquad d \qquad s \qquad b \qquad = d \qquad b \qquad s \qquad (38)$$

As pointed out in our previous work [1], to ensure unitarity of the S-matrix, we also need to take into account corrections to the norms of in- and out-states due to the TQFT dynamics in the IR. To compute such corrections, let us first consider the path-integral representations of in- and out-states¹⁸:

$$|\mathrm{In}\rangle = \bigvee_{v} \bigvee_{c} \bigvee_{v} \bigvee_{v} \bigvee_{v} \bigvee_{d} \bigvee_{b} \bigvee_{b} (39)$$

In principle, the norms $\langle In|In \rangle$ and $\langle Out|Out \rangle$ can be computed by gluing (39) to their upsidedown images and performing the path integral. This however does not separate the IR TQFT from theory-specific dynamics, making the analysis challenging.

To make progress, we use the SymTFT description. We propose that the norm of in-states can be computed by the following SymTFT configuration (a similar expression holds for out-states):

$$\langle \text{In}|\text{In}\rangle = d \underbrace{\bigcap_{c}}^{c} b \underbrace{\partial}^{c} b \underbrace{\partial}^{c} b \underbrace{\partial}^{c}$$

Here we performed the bulk surgery and projected to a specific state depicted above, which is described by two v lines going upward without any junctions in between. This is to ensure that the state at t = 0 slice is a two-kink state; without it, the path integral would include all possible field configurations including multi-particle states.

The key advantage of (40) is that it cleanly separates the TQFT dynamics from everything else: the right half of the figure gives the standard QFT norm of in-states containing the momentumconserving delta function¹⁹ while the left half describes the correction to the norm due to the IR TQFT, which depends purely on the fusion category data. Evaluating the left half in the IR TQFT, we obtain

$$\langle \mathrm{In}|\mathrm{In}\rangle|_{\mathrm{TQFT}} = d \underbrace{\bigcirc}_{c} b \underbrace{\bigcirc}_{c} b = d \underbrace{\bigcirc}_{c} b = \mathrm{d}_{v}\sqrt{g_{b}g_{d}}, \qquad (41)$$

¹⁸Here the analytic continuation to Lorentzian kinematics are made implicit on the right hand sides. ¹⁹Written explicitly, it reads $\langle p'_1, p'_2 | p_1, p_2 \rangle = (2\pi)^2 2\sqrt{s}\sqrt{s-4m^2} \,\delta^2(p_1+p_2-p'_1-p'_2)$.

where we have used basic identities for (1+1)d symmetric TFTs, (13) and (19), to evaluate the diagram.

We thus conclude that the S-matrix between properly normalized in- and out-states is given by

$$S_{dc}^{ab}(s) = \frac{d \int_{C} b}{\sqrt{d \int_{a}^{a} b d \int_{c}^{c} b}}.$$
(42)

As in our previous work, the numerator is expected to be crossing symmetric while the denominator depends on the channels (s, t-channels) we consider, leading to the modified crossing rule,

$$S_{dc}^{ab}(s) = \sqrt{\frac{a}{c} b d o c} \frac{a}{c} d \int_{c} b d o c} S_{ad}^{bc}(t) = \sqrt{\frac{g_{a}g_{c}}{g_{b}g_{d}}} S_{ad}^{bc}(t) .$$
(43)

This provides a generalization of the modified crossing rule in [1], applicable to vacua transforming in general representations of C.

2.5.3 Ward identities and projector basis

Ward identities for S-matrix. Another benefit of SymTFT is that it provides a conceptually clean derivation of the Ward identities obeyed by the S-matrix.

SymTFT geometrically separates the symmetry actions from the QFT dynamics, and allows us to derive the Ward identities purely from the topological boundary \mathscr{L} of SymTFT, where symmetry lines live. Concretely, we consider a symmetry line \mathcal{L} extending between the in- and out-states and deforming it past the v lines using $[\mathcal{L}; v]$ matrices. Focusing on the (left) topological boundary \mathscr{L} , this gives the following identity for the disk correlation functions



Reinstating the normalization factors needed to define the S-matrix, this leads to the Ward identity for the S-matrix,

$$\sum_{e} \left[\mathcal{L}; v\right]_{d'c'}^{de} \left[\mathcal{L}; v\right]_{b'c'}^{be} \sqrt{\frac{g_{c'}g_{b}g_{d}}{g_{e}}} S_{de}^{ab}(s) = \sum_{e'} \left[\mathcal{L}; v\right]_{da}^{d'e'} \left[\mathcal{L}; v\right]_{ba}^{b'e'} \sqrt{\frac{g_{a}g_{b'}g_{d'}}{g_{e'}}} S_{d'c'}^{e'b'}(s) .$$
(45)

For the regular representations, this reduces to the Ward identity used in our previous work [1].

Projector basis. In [1], we showed that $2 \rightarrow 2$ S-matrix of kinks can be decomposed into representations of the fusion category by using projectors P_{χ} :

$$S_{dc}^{ab}(s) = \sum_{\chi \in v \times v} \left(P_{\chi} \right)_{dc}^{ab} A_{\chi}(s) , \qquad (46)$$

where, for the regular representation, P_{χ} takes the explicit form [16]:

$$(P_{\chi})_{dc}^{ab} = \frac{\sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{\chi}}}{\mathrm{d}_{v}^{2}\sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{b}}\,\mathrm{d}_{d}} \ d \underbrace{\begin{array}{c} v \\ v \\ v \\ c \end{array}}_{c}^{u} b = \sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{a}\mathrm{d}_{c}}\,\mathrm{d}_{\chi} \begin{bmatrix} v & v & \chi \\ d & b & a \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v & v & \chi \\ d & b & c \end{bmatrix}, \tag{47}$$

This decomposition ensures that the S-matrix satisfies the Ward identities.

We now generalize this result to general module categories by applying the idea of separating the symmetry action of C from the dynamical data using SymTFT and bulk surgery. This can be achieved simply by inserting a resolution of identity in the SymTFT description of the S-matrix, leading to the following schematic picture: (Here various normalization factors are made implicit for simplicity.)



More precisely, we inserted the following orthogonal states of the bulk $TQFT^{20}$

$$|\chi\rangle = \frac{\sqrt{\mathbf{d}_{\chi}}}{\mathbf{d}_{v}} \underbrace{\chi}{\chi}.$$
(49)

The SymTFT picture (48) provides a geometric realization of the S-matrix decomposition (46): the left half corresponds to the projector P_{χ} , which enforces the Ward identities, while the right half

²⁰The prefactor $\sqrt{d_{\chi}}/d_v$ was chosen to match the conventions of the projector basis. It does not affect the Ward identities.

represents the partial wave amplitude A_{χ} , capturing the dynamical information. Taking into account the normalizations of in- and out-states discussed above, $\langle \text{In}|\text{In}\rangle|_{\text{TQFT}} = \langle \text{Out}|\text{Out}\rangle|_{\text{TQFT}} = d_v \sqrt{g_b g_d}$, the projector basis can be computed explicitly as follows:



Here we reduced the 3d picture to 2d TQFT in the second equality, and evaluated the diagram using the dual boundary F-symbols and the results from [19] in the third equality. When applied to the regular representation, this correctly reproduces (47).

It is straightforward to show, following the arguments in [1, 16], that the projector defined this way satisfies the Ward identities. Pictorially, they correspond to the following manipulation,



The equality between the two figures can be explicitly verified using the pentagon-like identity i.e. the second formula in (23).

In Section 3, we will use these projectors to implement the S-matrix bootstrap with the fusion category symmetry. 21

3 S-matrix bootstrap with fusion category symmetry

The S-matrix bootstrap program aims at mapping out the space of possible scattering amplitudes imposing constraints coming from general principles such as Lorentz invariance, unitarity and

²¹The projectors and the Ward identities have other applications. For instance, they are needed to ensure that integrability survives even in the twisted sectors of categorical defects in integrable QFTs: more precisely, given a symmetry line \mathcal{L} , one can construct mutually commuting transfer matrices $T_{\mathcal{L}}(u)$ on the \mathcal{L} -twisted Hilbert space if and only if the symmetry Ward identities are satisfied. We hope to report on this soon [28].



Figure 5: (a) Two-body scattering of particles with the same mass m giving the amplitude S(s). (b) Analytic structure of the amplitude in the complex s plane. Singularities of the amplitude S(s) lie on the real axis, including two-particle branch cuts starting at $s = 0, 4m^2$. Possible bound states appear as poles in $0 < s < 4m^2$, here we show in blue one bound state of mass m_b and its crossing symmetric image (lighter blue).

causality. Many different classes of theories have been studied with this approach, for a review see [89]. Although it is well-understood how to include the existence of global group symmetries in terms of irreducible representations and projectors, theories with generalized symmetries have been a completely uncharted territory for the S-matrix bootstrap. Here we start the systematic exploration of the S-matrix in such theories and study the space of scattering amplitudes for (1+1)d gapped theories with categorical symmetries.

As we saw in the previous section, the presence of categorical symmetries highly constrains the spectrum of the theory and –as we put forward in [1]– has important implications for scattering amplitudes, giving modified crossing rules.

In the following we review the consistency conditions we should impose on the amplitudes. First, we impose the global symmetry given by the fusion category C by projecting the amplitude into the different fusion channels. We then review what unitarity, (modified) crossing and analyticity imply for the amplitudes in different channels.

3.1 Review of S-matrix bootstrap in (1+1)d

In this section we review how to bootstrap amplitudes in (1+1)d. The reader familiar with Smatrix bootstrap can safely skip this section and proceed to the next one.

We consider the two-body scattering of the lightest particle of mass m in a gapped QFT, as shown in Figure 5a. Because of Lorentz invariance, this scattering amplitude should be a function of the three Mandelstam invariants $s = (p_1 + p_2)^2$, $t = (p_1 - p_3)^2$ and $u = (p_1 - p_4)^2$ satisfying the usual relation $s + t + u = 4m^2$. However, in 1+1d momentum conservation implies that $\{p_1, p_2\} = \{p_3, p_4\}$ so that we can set u = 0 and hence we have a single independent kinematic variable which we choose to be the center of mass energy squared, s. This $2 \rightarrow 2$ amplitude S(s)is highly constrained by the basic principles of analyticity, crossing and unitarity which we briefly explain below. **Analyticity** emerges form causality and states that the physical amplitude is the boundary value of a complex function S(s) in the complex plane $s \in \mathbb{C}$. Moreover, this function is analytic except for possible singularities associated to on-shell processes like poles for bound states and branch cuts for multiparticle thresholds.²² An example of the analytic structure for S(s) in a theory with one bound state is given in Figure 5b.

Crossing symmetry relates different scattering processes in which we exchange in and out particles, stemming from the interpretation of a particle as an antiparticle moving backward in time. In terms of the analytic function S(s), it tells us that different kinematic channels are boundary values of the same analytic function. For instance, the s-channel $2 \rightarrow 2$ amplitude with $s \ge 4m^2$ is related by analytic continuation to the t-channel one where $t = 4m^2 - s \ge 4m^2$.²³ The explicit relation is then $S(s) = S(t = 4m^2 - s)$.

Unitarity tells us that the full S-matrix S giving the map between in and out states $|p_1, \ldots, p_n\rangle_{in} = S|p_1, \ldots, p_n\rangle_{out}$ is a unitary operator, i.e. $S^{\dagger}S = 1$. This is indeed what is required from conservation of probabilities in quantum mechanics. For the $2 \rightarrow 2$ amplitude $_{out}\langle p_3, p_4|p_1, p_2\rangle_{in} = (2\pi)^2 2\sqrt{s}\sqrt{s-4m^2}\delta^2(p_1+p_2-p_3-p_4)S(s)$ unitarity implies that $|S(s)|^2 \leq 1$ for physical values of the center of mass energy $s \geq 4m^2$. Using real analyticity $S^*(s) = S(s^*)$ one can also write it as $S(s)S(s^*) \leq 1$.

Bootstrap Now that we know the conditions we want to impose, we can bound the space of consistent amplitudes. This can be done by choosing a family of functionals²⁴ of the S-matrix $\mathcal{F}[S(s)]$ and maximizing them. In practice, we write down an ansatz for the amplitude which trivializes analyticity and crossing and perform the maximization imposing unitarity separately as pioneered in [3]. Since the analytic structure of the amplitude depends on the spectrum of the theory, one needs to first fix the latter. For example, for theories without bound states one can use Cauchy's theorem to write the dispersion relation²⁵

$$S(s) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint ds' \frac{S(s')}{s' - s} = S_{\infty} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{4m^2}^{\infty} ds' \left[\frac{1}{s' - s} + \frac{1}{s' - 4m^2 + s} \right] D(s'),$$
(52)

where D(s) is the discontinuity across the branch cut $D(s) \equiv \text{Disc } S(s)$, which using real analyticity reduces to the imaginary part D(s) = 2i Im S(s). Most of the time the maximization has to be done numerically, so that one writes a discretized ansatz for the amplitude and imposes unitarity in a grid of physical values of the energy. One way of making a discretized ansatz is to

 $^{^{22}}$ Since we are considering scattering of the lightest particle we exclude anomalous thresholds which would give extra singularities associated to Landau diagrams [90,91]. In contrast with higher dimensions, the latter singularities are poles in (1+1)d.

²³Crossing symmetry of $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering of massive (local) particles has been proven in [92]. As explained in [93], in more general cases crossing symmetry is highly non-trivial and relates scattering amplitudes to other type of asymptotic observables.

²⁴Typical choices for functionals are effective quartic coupling given by the amplitude itself $S(s_*)$ for $0 < s_* < 4m^2$ (where the amplitude is real), scattering lengths, and cubic couplings given by the residue at bound state poles.

 $^{^{25}}$ In case the amplitude does not fall off fast enough at infinity one can include subtractions.

approximate D(s) in (52) by a piece-wise linear function,

$$D(s) = \frac{(s - s_{j-1})D_j + (s_j - s)D_{j-1}}{s_j - s_{j-1}} \qquad (s_{j-1} \le s \le s_j).$$
(53)

Using the dispersion relation (52), this provides an ansatz for the S-matrix, parametrized by discrete data $\{D_j\}$. With this crossing symmetric, analytic ansatz, one can proceed to the optimization of a functional subject to unitarity (imposed at discrete points $s = s_j$). Explicit examples for the numerical implementation can be found in appendix D. This is known as the *primal approach*, in which one explores the space of allowed amplitudes from the inside, by constructing explicit amplitudes that satisfy all axioms. The bounds we find for \mathcal{F} in this way are however not rigorous and may vary as we increase the number of parameters in the ansatz.

A complimentary approach called *dual* allows us to establish rigorous bounds. This approach was first proposed in [94] and then developed in various contexts in [24, 25, 95–100]. Here we explain the key points and give details on the derivation and examples in appendix D. The idea is to write a dual functional \mathcal{F}_d satisfying the inequality $\mathcal{F} \leq \mathcal{F}_d$, so that we are approaching the optimal bound from above. The dual functional \mathcal{F}_d is written in terms of dual variables K(s)which act as Lagrange multipliers for the S-matrix constraints, so that the optimization problem satisfies $\max_S \mathcal{F} \leq \min_K \mathcal{F}_d$. The dual functional takes the form

$$\mathcal{F}_d = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{4m^2}^{\infty} ds |K(s)|, \qquad (54)$$

where K(s) is analytic in the cut plane (except for possible poles if the primal functional is of the form $S(s_*)$), decays fast enough at large s (at least like $s^{-3/2}$) and obeys an anticrossing condition $K(4m^2 - s) = -K(s)$.²⁶ It is simple to implement the dual optimization numerically by writing an ansatz for K(s) with the former properties and performing the integration by quadrature.

Global symmetry So far we have focused on the scattering of identical particles. If we consider theories with a global symmetry where different particles are grouped into symmetry multiplets some modifications are needed. The first modification is that there will be more analytic functions (as many as irreducible representations the two external particles can form) related to each other by crossing. Take for instance the two-body scattering of particles transforming in the vector representation of O(N). We can write this amplitude in terms of the allowed scattering channels, namely singlet, antisymmetric and symmetric representations

$$S_{lk}^{ij}(s) = \sum_{\chi} A_{\chi}(s) (P_{\chi})_{lk}^{ij},$$
(55)

$$(P_{\rm sing})_{lk}^{ij} = \frac{1}{N} \delta_{ij} \delta_{kl} \,, \quad (P_{\rm anti})_{lk}^{ij} = \frac{\delta_{ik} \delta_{jl} - \delta_{il} \delta_{kj}}{2} \,, \quad (P_{\rm sym})_{lk}^{ij} = \frac{\delta_{ik} \delta_{jl} + \delta_{il} \delta_{kj}}{2} - \frac{1}{N} \delta_{ij} \delta_{kl} \tag{56}$$

where i, j, k, l = 1, ..., N. In this projector basis, unitarity simply reads $|A_{\chi}(s)|^2 \leq 1$ for each representation. Crossing symmetry $S_{lk}^{ij}(s) = S_{li}^{jk}(4m^2 - s)$ then gives non-trivial relations between

²⁶In the case with global symmetry where we have amplitudes in different channels satisfying $S_{\chi}(4m^2 - s) = C_{\chi\chi'}S_{\chi'}(s)$, the dual variables $K_a(s)$ should obey anticrossing with the transpose of the crossing matrix $K_{\chi}(4m^2 - s) = -C_{\chi'\chi}K_{\chi'}(s)$.

the different channel amplitudes

$$A_{\chi}(4m^2 - s) = \sum_{\chi'} C_{\chi\chi'} A_{\chi'}(s) , \qquad (57)$$

with $C_{\chi\chi'}$ the crossing matrix which for O(N) reads

$$C = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{N} & -\frac{N}{2} + \frac{1}{2} & \frac{N}{2} + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{N} \\ -\frac{1}{N} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{N} \\ \frac{1}{N} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{N} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (58)

In the following we explain how these S-matrix properties translate into the setting where the global symmetry is described by a fusion category.

3.2 **Projector basis**

As we have seen in Section 2, to study kink scattering in a massive (1+1)d QFT with categorical symmetry \mathcal{C} , we need few ingredients. First, we have the module category \mathscr{M} over \mathcal{C} , which encodes the information about possible boundary conditions $a \cdot d$ we identify with the infrared vacua and physically tell us the pattern of spontaneous breaking of the symmetry \mathcal{C} . Then, we have the kink $K_{a,b}^v$ interpolating between vacua which acts as a boundary changing operator to which we associate a simple line v in the dual category $\mathcal{C}_{\mathscr{M}}^*$. Finally, to ensure kink scattering amplitudes are compatible with the symmetry \mathcal{C} , we expand the amplitude in projectors P_{χ} which solve the corresponding Ward identities:

$$S_{dc}^{ab}(s) = \sum_{\chi} A_{\chi}(s) \left(P_{\chi}\right)_{dc}^{ab} , \qquad (59)$$

where $\chi \in \mathcal{C}^*_{\mathscr{M}}$ specifies the fusion channel $v \times v \supset \chi$ and $A_{\chi}(s)$ are the partial amplitude containing the dynamical information. The projectors can be explicitly written in terms of the boundary *F*-symbols for the dual category φ^* as follows

$$(P_{\chi})_{dc}^{ab} = \frac{\sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{\chi}}}{\mathrm{d}_{v}^{2}\sqrt{g_{b}g_{d}}} d \left(\begin{array}{c} v & v \\ v & v \\ v \\ c \end{array} \right)_{b}^{ab} = (\varphi^{*})_{vv\chi}^{bad} (\varphi^{*})_{vv\chi}^{dcb} = \sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{a}\mathrm{d}_{c}} \mathrm{d}_{\chi} \left[\begin{array}{c} v & v & \chi \\ d & b & a \end{array} \right]_{*} \left[\begin{array}{c} v & v & \chi \\ d & b & c \end{array} \right]_{*}, \quad (60)$$

where in the last equation we used $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & v_2 & v_3 \\ v_4 & v_5 & v_6 \end{bmatrix}_*$ to denote the tetrahedral symbols of the dual category $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathscr{M}}$. If we consider the case in which all symmetries are spontaneously broken, we have the regular module category for which $\mathcal{C}^*_{\mathscr{M}} = \mathcal{C}$ and we recover our previous result [1]

$$(P_{\chi})_{dc}^{ab} = \frac{\sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{\chi}}}{\mathrm{d}_{v}^{2}\sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{b}\mathrm{d}_{d}}} d \left(\underbrace{v \quad v \quad v}_{v \quad v} \right)_{b} = \sqrt{\mathrm{d}_{a}\mathrm{d}_{c}} \mathrm{d}_{\chi} \begin{bmatrix} v \quad v \quad \chi \\ d \quad b \quad a \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v \quad v \quad \chi \\ d \quad b \quad c \end{bmatrix} .$$
(61)

Let us now see how unitarity and (modified) crossing are implemented in this basis:

Unitarity As explained in the previous section, unitarity of the full S-matrix $S^{\dagger}S = 1$ implies the following inequality for the two-body scattering

$$\sum_{e} S^{eb}_{dc}(s) S^{ab}_{de}(s^*) \le \delta_{ac} , \qquad (62)$$

which in the projector basis (59) is simply:

$$A_{\chi}(s)A_{\chi}(s^*) \le 1 \quad (s \ge 4m^2).$$
 (63)

(Modified) crossing As shown in our previous work [1] for the regular representation and in Section 2.5.2 for the generic case, the modified crossing equations for the S-matrix read²⁷

$$S_{dc}^{ab}(s) = \sqrt{\frac{g_a g_c}{g_b g_d}} S_{ad}^{bc}(4m^2 - s), \qquad (64)$$

where g_a is the relative Euler term defined in (13), which coincides with the quantum dimension d_a in the case of the regular representation. For the partial amplitudes $A_{\chi}(s)$ it amounts to the relation

$$A_{\chi}(s) = \sum_{\chi'} \mathrm{d}_{\chi'} \begin{bmatrix} v & v & \chi \\ v & v & \chi' \end{bmatrix}_{*} A_{\chi'}(4m^2 - s).$$
(65)

which can be obtained by comparing projectors in the s- and t- channel. This gives us the analogue of the crossing matrix $C_{\chi\chi'}$ in (57) in terms of the module category data.

Analyticity The last main ingredient is analyticity: We assume the amplitudes $A_{\chi}(s)$ are analytic except for possible singularities related to stable particles (such as poles for bound states) and physical thresholds (branch cuts from multiparticle intermediate states). This means that each $A_{\chi}(s)$ is analytic in the physical sheet where we evaluate unitarity (see Figure 5b) except for possible bound state poles between 0 and $4m^{2}$.²⁸

Bootstrap The bootstrap problem is the following: given a category, what is the space of possible fusion channel amplitudes $A_{\chi}(\theta)$ compatible with analyticity, unitarity (63) and (modified) crossing (65)?

We will explore the space of possible amplitudes by maximizing functionals of the form $\mathcal{F} = \sum_{\chi} n_{\chi} A_{\chi}(s_*)$, where we evaluate the partial amplitudes at a fixed energy s_* and repeat the maximization for many coefficients n_{χ} .²⁹ In the following we bound the space of amplitudes for theories with \mathcal{A}_n and Fibonacci categories. Since these spaces include integrable amplitudes, we first state the conditions integrable amplitudes with these categories should satisfy.

²⁷In [1] we used the rapidity θ related to s as $s = 4m^2 \cosh^2(\theta/2)$, in this variable crossing maps θ to $i\pi - \theta$.

²⁸In the examples discussed here the external particles are also the lightest ones, so that there are no Landau singularities.

²⁹This is the *normal* type of functionals considered in [94], which highlight the points at the boundary with more curvature. We also use the dual approach for the radial type where we fix a direction $A_{\chi}(s_*) = t n_{\chi}$ and maximize t.

Yang-Baxter equations If the theory is integrable, the $2 \rightarrow 2$ amplitude obeys the Yang-Baxter equation, imposing the factorization of three-body scattering in different orders. Expanding the amplitudes in terms of projectors gives the following equation



Through a series of F-moves, one can bring both sides of the equation to the following network of lines



and get the condition the partial amplitudes $A_{\chi}(\theta)$ should satisfy in case the theory is integrable:

$$\sum_{\eta_{2}} d_{\eta_{2}} \begin{bmatrix} v & v & \eta_{2} \\ \xi_{2} & v & \eta_{1} \end{bmatrix}_{*} \begin{bmatrix} v & v & \eta_{2} \\ \xi_{2} & v & \eta_{3} \end{bmatrix}_{*} A_{\eta_{1}}(\theta_{2}) A_{\eta_{2}}(\theta_{1} + \theta_{2}) A_{\eta_{3}}(\theta_{1}) = \\\sum_{\chi_{1},\chi_{2},\chi_{3}} d_{\chi_{1}} d_{\chi_{2}} d_{\chi_{3}} \begin{bmatrix} v & v & \chi_{2} \\ \xi_{2} & v & \chi_{1} \end{bmatrix}_{*} \begin{bmatrix} v & v & \chi_{2} \\ \xi_{2} & v & \chi_{3} \end{bmatrix}_{*} \begin{bmatrix} v & v & \chi_{1} \\ \xi_{2} & v & \chi_{3} \end{bmatrix}_{*} \begin{bmatrix} v & v & \chi_{1} \\ \xi_{2} & v & \eta_{1} \end{bmatrix}_{*} \begin{bmatrix} v & v & \chi_{3} \\ \xi_{2} & v & \eta_{3} \end{bmatrix}_{*} A_{\chi_{1}}(\theta_{1}) A_{\chi_{2}}(\theta_{1} + \theta_{2}) A_{\chi_{3}}(\theta_{2})$$

$$(67)$$

As we shall see, integrable amplitudes appear at special points of the allowed space of amplitudes.

3.3 A_n category

One of the simplest categories to consider is \mathcal{A}_n , with n-1 symmetry lines labeled by $a = 0, 1/2, \ldots$. We study the case in which we have n-1 vacua, corresponding to the regular representation of the module category discussed around (26). This is the category present in the $\phi_{1,3}$ deformations of minimal models, described by integrable amplitudes that make their appearance at special features of our bounds. We focus on the scattering of kinks K_{ab} interpolating between neighbouring vacua. Since they form a symmetry multiplet they all have the same mass m [21].

The symmetry line associated to such kinks is v = 1/2, which results in two possible fusion channels $\chi = 0, 1$. The modified crossing rules (65) for the partial amplitudes $A_{\chi}(s)$ then read

$$\begin{pmatrix} A_0(s) \\ A_1(s) \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{d_{1/2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & d_1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A_0(4m^2 - s) \\ A_1(4m^2 - s) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad d_a = \frac{\sin \pi (2a+1)/n}{\sin \pi/n}.$$
 (68)

In the equation above we have evaluated the fact that in the regular representation the dual boundary F-symbols are the same as the bulk ones. Their explicit expressions can be found in appendix A of [1].

It is straightforward to bootstrap the space of amplitudes consistent with analyticity, unitarity and the modified crossing equations above. To fix the analytic properties, we consider theories



Figure 6: Space of allowed amplitudes $A_{\chi}(s)$ for \mathcal{A}_n category, section at $s_* \approx 3.41 m^2$. Amplitudes consistent with analyticity, unitarity and modified crossing lie inside these bounds. The lines indicate the optimal bounds found with the dual/primal approaches explained in the main text, different colors show the dependence on n. The points at the vertices are integrable solutions of which the bottom left ones correspond to the $\mathcal{M}_n - \lambda \phi_{1,3}$ RG flows.

where the kinks do not form bound states (in any fusion channel), so that the partial amplitudes $A_{\chi}(s)$ are analytic in the cut plane. To explore the space of allowed amplitudes one can maximize functionals of the form $\mathcal{F} = \sum_{\chi} n_{\chi} A_{\chi}(s_*)$ for many different n_{χ} . The primal and corresponding dual bootstrap approaches described in 3.1 result in the optimal bounds shown in Figure 6.³⁰

The first feature is that the lower and upper bounds are related by an overall change of sign $A_{\chi}(s) \rightarrow -A_{\chi}(s)$, since multiplying by an overall minus gives an equally consistent amplitude. A more interesting feature is that for each n there are two clear vertices, which are actually the only two integrable points at the boundary of the allowed space. They are again related by an overall sign and are the Yang-Baxter solutions first proposed in [30, 101, 102] whose modified crossing version we wrote in [1]. The solutions located on the lower vertices read

$$A_{0}(\theta) = Z(\theta) \sinh\left(\frac{i\pi + \theta}{n}\right), \quad A_{1}(\theta) = Z(\theta) \sinh\left(\frac{i\pi - \theta}{n}\right), \tag{69}$$
$$Z(\theta) = \frac{1}{\sinh\frac{\theta - i\pi}{n}} \exp\left\{\frac{i}{2}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dk}{k} \sin k\theta \frac{\sinh\frac{k\pi}{2}(n-1)}{\sinh\frac{nk\pi}{2}\cosh\frac{k\pi}{2}}\right\},$$

where we used the rapidity variable θ satisfying $s = 4m^2 \cosh^2 \frac{\theta}{2}$. Importantly, these amplitudes describe known theories, namely the $\phi_{1,3}$ deformations of unitary minimal models \mathcal{M}_n . The physical models for their minus sign counterparts are not known. In a by now standard result

³⁰Notice that the optimization procedure not only produces the bound but also gives the extremal amplitudes saturating those bounds, so that we can study generic features of these amplitudes.

in S-matrix bootstrap, the rest of the boundary amplitudes are not integrable but saturate twoparticle unitarity.³¹ They exhibit a relatively simple analytic structure³² and crucially, an absence of oscillatory behaviour in θ , in contrast with the results of other global group symmetries such as \mathbb{Z}_2 , \mathbb{Z}_4 and O(N) [94,103–105]. This is reminiscent of the fact that in the original proposal for the $\mathcal{M}_n - \phi_{1,3}$ amplitudes $S_{dc}^{ab}(\theta)$ there was an oscillating factor of the form $\left(\frac{d_a d_c}{d_b d_d}\right)^{\frac{i\theta}{2\pi}}$ which nicely disappears when using the correct crossing rules.

Although the only known physical model we have made contact with are the $\phi_{1,3}$ deformations of minimal models, let us stress that any QFT (integrable or not) with this \mathcal{A}_n categorical symmetry and spectrum should have a two-particle amplitude inside these bounds.

3.4 Fibonacci category

The next category we study is Fibonacci with two elements 1, W and non trivial fusion rule $W^2 = 1 + W$. Considering again the regular representation of the module category leaves us with two vacua a = 0, 1/2 which we identify with symmetry lines 1, W. The kink is associated to the v = 1/2 = W line, which gives the following vacua configurations as part of the same symmetry multiplet: $K_{1/2,0}, K_{0,1/2}$ and $K_{1/2,1/2}$. These are precisely the kink, anti-kink and breather discussed around (29). Given the fusion rule above, there are two partial amplitudes obeying the modified crossing condition

$$\begin{pmatrix} A_0(s) \\ A_{1/2}(s) \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{d_{1/2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & d_{1/2} \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A_0(4m^2 - s) \\ A_{1/2}(4m^2 - s) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad d_{1/2} = \frac{1 + \sqrt{5}}{2}.$$
 (70)

Because of the fusion rule $v \times v \supset v$, allows us to have a cubic coupling between the scattered particles. Indeed, we can interpret the breather $K_{1/2,1/2}$ as a bound state of the kink and anti-kink. What this means for the amplitudes is that we can have a pole in the v = 1/2 fusion channel $A_{1/2}(s) \sim \frac{g^2}{s-m^2}$. The bound state mass is fixed to be the same as the external particles since the states we are considering are all part of the same symmetry multiplet and therefore degenerate in mass, while the residue given by the (square of the) non-perturbative cubic coupling is a free parameter.³³

A natural space to bootstrap is then $\{A_0(s_*), A_{1/2}(s_*), g^2\}$. We do so with the same primal and dual methods as before, with the only difference that now the amplitudes have poles related to the bound state.³⁴ In practice, we fix the coupling to some value and use the normal functionals to

³¹In theories that are not integrable there should be particle production, but the optimization problem is blind to this fact since we are not including multi-particle data. The bounds are however rigorous and the extremal amplitudes are perfectly consistent at low energies.

³²To be more precise, there is a single tower of poles and zeros in the imaginary rapidity axis, with the "fractal" structure discussed in [94] and only pair of zeros (poles) at $\theta = i\pi(2n+1) + \alpha$ ($\theta = i\pi 2n + \alpha$) for integer n and real α .

³³In general we are free to consider bound states in any fusion channel χ with any mass $m_b^{(\chi)}$. Here we choose the minimum spectrum allowed by the categorical symmetry. This is in contrast with the \mathcal{A}_n example where the minimum spectrum is the one without bound states since the fusion rule $v \times v = 0 + 1$ does not allow the scattered particles to be considered as bound states.

³⁴Note that while $A_0(s)$ has no s-channel pole, the crossing equations above produce a pole in the t-channel (i.e. at $s = 4m^2 - m^2 = 3m^2$) in both fusion channels.



Figure 7: Space of allowed amplitudes $A_{\chi}(s)$ for Fibonacci category. (a) Optimal bounds for the two fusion channel amplitudes at $s_* \approx 3.41m^2$ and the (squared) cubic coupling g^2 . The dark blue section at the bottom has g = 0 and matches the previous bounds found for \mathcal{A}_5 (see Figure 6. The three dots signal integrable solutions. (b) Projection into the $\{A_{1/2}(s_*), A_0(s_*)\}$ plane. The shaded regions are the fixed g^2 sections marked in the 3D plot above. The lower vertices in blue indicate the integrable amplitudes corresponding to known physical models: the subleading magnetic deformation of tricritical Ising (light blue) and the 3-state Potts deformed by the operator $Z + Z^*$ (dark blue).

produce a slice of the 3d plot and repeat for many couplings. The resulting bounds are presented in Figure 7, where the allowed space has a cone/spear-like shape.

Let us first discuss the $q^2 = 0$ section in dark blue. This space is actually the same what we found for \mathcal{A}_5 in Figure 6. The reason is quite simple: mathematically, the case without bound states brings us back to the same system of equations as we had before since $A_{\chi}(s)$ are free of poles and for n = 5 the quantum dimensions in (68) are $d_{1/2}^{A_5} = d_1^{A_5} = \frac{1+\sqrt{5}}{2} = d_{1/2}^{\text{Fibo}}$. Note however that the interpretation for the actual kink scattering is different: here we are dealing with theories which flow to a gapped phase with two vacua instead of four. The relation between the two is the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold alluded to in Section 2.4. In practice, all one needs to do is identify the \mathcal{A}_5 labels as $0 \leftrightarrow 3/2$, $1/2 \leftrightarrow 1$. In this way we see for instance that the scattering process described by the amplitude $S_{1/2,1}^{0,1/2}(s)$ in \mathcal{A}_5 becomes $S_{1/2,1/2}^{0,1/2}(s)$ in the orbifolded version which is indeed allowed in the Fibonacci category. However, the full symmetry preserved by this orbifold procedure is Fib× \mathbb{Z}_2 , so that we see an enhancement of the symmetry in this $g^2 = 0$ slice. This is only possible when g = 0 since Fib× \mathbb{Z}_2 does not admit the interpretation of the breather as a kink anti-kink bound state, see discussion around (32). The two dots at the vertices mark the integrable solutions obtained by setting n = 5 in (69) for the lower vertex and multiplying by overall minus sign for the upper one. The lower vertex is the orbifold version of the $\mathcal{M}_5 - \phi_{1,3}$ and describes another physical system: the 3-state Potts critical model deformed by $Z + Z^*$, where these fields are the two primaries with Kac labels r = 1, s = 3. Once more, the associated physical model for the upper vertex is unknown.

Passing to the rest of the bounds, note there is a sharp tip at $g^2 \approx 2.19$ which can be understood from the fact that there is a unique amplitude with the maximum cubic coupling allowed by analyticity, modified crossing and unitarity. The $A_{\chi}(s) \rightarrow -A_{\chi}(s)$ symmetry in the $g^2 = 0$ bounds is lost for $g \neq 0$, as is clear from Figure 7b. This is because the residue at the bound state pole has a definite (positive) sign. There is a third integrable point at the boundary of the allowed region, marked with a lighter blue point. It corresponds to the $\phi_{2,1}$ deformation of the tricritical Ising model \mathcal{M}_4 proposed in [31] and revised in the context of non-invertible symmetries in our previous work [1]. The partial amplitudes in terms of the rapidity θ are

$$A_{0}(\theta) = R(\theta) \sinh\left(\frac{i\pi + \theta}{5/9}\right), \quad A_{1}(\theta) = R(\theta) \sinh\left(\frac{i\pi - \theta}{5/9}\right), \quad (71)$$
$$R(\theta) = -\sinh^{-1}\left(\frac{i\pi + \theta}{5/9}\right) f_{-2/5} \left(9\theta/5\right) f_{3/5} \left(9\theta/5\right) F_{-1/9}(\theta) F_{2/9}(\theta),$$

where $f_{\alpha}(\theta) = \frac{\sinh\left(\frac{\theta+i\alpha\pi}{2}\right)}{\sinh\left(\frac{\theta-i\alpha\pi}{2}\right)}$ and $F_{\alpha}(\theta) = -f_{\alpha}(\theta)f_{\alpha}(i\pi-\theta)$. Although not obvious from the plots, this point is also a cusp in the 3D shape, which nicely matches our expectation that physical theories take a special place in the allowed space of amplitudes. We sampled the rest of the extremal amplitudes and found a similar pattern as for \mathcal{A}_n . The amplitudes saturate unitarity, do not satisfy the Yang-Baxter equations (67) and display a simple analytic structure with no oscillating behaviour in energy. The points signaled in Figure 7b are all the physical systems we can locate with certainty, but as emphasized in the previous section all models with this minimal spectrum and a global Fibonacci symmetry should be contained in these bounds.

4 Conclusion and future directions

In this work we have demonstrated that non-invertible (categorical) symmetries can be efficiently implemented in an S-matrix bootstrap framework, opening the way to the study of non-invertible-symmetric scattering in 1+1 dimensions.

In the first part, we described kink multiplets and their scattering using the Symmetry Topological Field Theory (SymTFT), extending our previous results [1] to cover general spontaneous breaking patterns of fusion categories and general kink multiplets. The SymTFT is a universal framework for studying categorical symmetries, which works also in higher dimensions. We thus expect that the approach in this paper, along with recent findings by one of the authors [38], paves the way for higher-dimensional generalizations. Additionally, this formulation intuitively describes the fusion structure of kink multiplets, imposing nontrivial selection rules on bound states, as we have seen in Sections 2.4 and 3.4.

In the second part, we incorporated non-invertible symmetries into the S-matrix bootstrap by introducing a specialized basis of projectors. These projectors automatically incorporate both the Ward identity of non-invertible symmetries and the modified crossing rules. By charting the space of symmetric S-matrices, we showed that known integrable systems appear as cusps in the space of allowed partial-wave amplitudes.

This work serves as a proof-of-concept, illustrating the potential of combining categorical symmetries and the S-matrix bootstrap to impose stringent constraints on the space of consistent S-matrices. It naturally leaves many interesting open questions:

- S-matrix bootstrap for Haagerup fusion category. Interesting targets for the S-matrix bootstrap are theories with Haagerup fusion category symmetry. Haagerup fusion category is an "exceptional" fusion category, initially constructed from a subfactor of von Neumann algebra [106, 107]. Unlike other fusion categories that are related to finite groups or quantum groups, its QFT realization remains unclear. Recently, evidence suggests that CFTs with Haagerup fusion category may arise from the continuum limit of lattice models [108, 109]. However, the detailed properties of these CFTs remain unknown. Applying the S-matrix bootstrap to theories with Haagerup fusion category could illuminate the nature of such theories, offering insights into both the ultraviolet (UV) CFT and its relevant deformations. The techniques developed in this paper will be instrumental in pursuing this line of investigation. Another important question is to construct integrable S-matrices with Haagerup fusion category by directly imposing the Yang-Baxter equation. Works in these directions are currently in progress.
- Form factor bootstrap for theories with non-invertible symmetries. Incorporating information on the UV fixed point into the S-matrix bootstrap can be achieved by studying form factors of local operators [23–25]. In the presence of non-invertible symmetries, crossing rules for form factors are likely modified. Deriving these modified crossing rules and performing a (numerical) form factor bootstrap are promising future directions. We anticipate that the SymTFT approach developed in this paper will be useful for this purpose.
- Modified crossing in 2 + 1 dimensions. An important open question is to generalize our results to higher dimensions. A natural next step in this direction would be to revisit

modified crossing rules in Chern-Simons-matter theories, found in [110], in light of our analysis; in particular from the SymTFT perspective. Note that a SymTFT approach for Chern-Simons-matter theories in (2+1)d has been proposed recently in [76].

- 3+1 dimensions. Finding concrete examples of modified crossing rules in 3 + 1 dimensions would be extremely interesting. One promising avenue is the monopole-fermion scattering. Using the extension of the spinor-helicity formalism, recent work [111] has shown that the standard crossing rule is violated in such processes. Additionally, studies suggest that non-invertible symmetries play a significant role in the monopole-fermion scattering [112, 113]. Studying these processes using the SymTFT framework could be a first step in this direction. Alternatively, studying scattering processes involving extended objects, such as surfaces or domain walls, would be interesting, since non-invertible symmetries in higher dimensions often act on extended operators. SymTFT descriptions of extended operators can be achieved following recent results [38].
- Soft dynamics and SymTFT. As mentioned in our previous paper [1] and also in [110], the examples analyzed here can be seen as toy models for the soft dynamics of gauge theories and gravity, where the complicated IR dynamics of soft gluons and gravitons is replaced with simpler TQFT dynamics. Our findings suggest that crossing rules in these theories (in 3 + 1 dimensions) are also modified, with the modifications determined by the dynamics in the soft sector. To make further progress, it would be important to study asymptotic symmetries and soft physics using the SymTFT framework.

Acknowledgements The authors thank Lorenzo Di Pietro for discussions. CC wishes to thank L. Bhardwaj and S. Schafer-Nameki for sharing some of their results [29] prior to publication and the aforementioned plus D. Pajer for collaboration on a related project [34]. CC is supported by STFC grant ST/X000761/1.

A Flows from minimal models and preserved symmetry

Relevant flows from (unitary) minimal models have a long history. For diagonal minimal models $\mathcal{M}_{n+1,n}$, the set of topological Verlinde lines $\mathcal{L}_{r,s}$ is isomorphic to their set of primary operators $\phi_{r,s}$ [6,114]. The symmetry action on a primary operator is encoded in the modular S-matrix:

The symmetry line $\mathcal{L}_{r,s}$ is preserved by the $\phi_{r',s'}$ deformation iff:

$$\frac{S_{r,s;r',s'}}{S_{1,1;r',s'}} = \frac{S_{r,s;1,1}}{S_{1,1;1,1}}.$$
(73)

This equation can be easily on a case-by-case basis. Some implications of the preserved symmetry are discussed e.g. in [6, 115-117].

The most well known case is the universal $\phi_{1,3}$ deformation, which preserves:

$$\mathcal{A}_n \simeq \{\mathcal{L}_{r,1}, r = 1, ..., n - 1\}$$
 (74)

We will label lines in the A_n category by a = 0, 1/2, ..., n/2 - 1, with r = 2a + 1. Their fusion rule is given by:

$$a \times b = \sum_{\substack{c=|a-b|\\c-a+b \mod(1)=0}}^{\min(a+b,n-2+a+b)} c,$$
(75)

the name derives from the fact that its objects can be thought of as the nodes of the A_{n-1} Dynkin diagram:

$$\bigcirc - \bigcirc - \bigcirc - \bigcirc - \bigcirc \\ 0 \quad \frac{1}{2} \quad 1 \qquad \frac{n}{2} - 1$$

$$(76)$$

In the paper we have also studied RG flows from the c = 4/5 critical Potts model, which is the \mathbb{Z}_2 orbifold of the \mathcal{M}_5 diagonal unitary minimal model. In Potts language the $\phi_{1,3}$ deformation is mapped to the charge conjugation singlet $Z + Z^*$, see [6] (sec. 5.2.1), preserving the \mathbb{Z}_2 charge conjugation symmetry as well as the Fibonacci line. Since the integrable $\phi_{1,3}$ flows have no kink bound states, it follows that neither do the kinks in the Potts model.

$\mathbf{B} \quad \mathcal{A}_5 \,\, \mathbf{and} \,\, \mathcal{A}_5/\mathbb{Z}_2 \,\, \mathbf{categories}$

We now give some more details on the example considered in the main text: the orbifold of the \mathcal{M}_5 minimal model.

The symmetry category of the \mathcal{M}_n unitary minimal model deformed by the relevant $\phi_{1,3}$ operator is the \mathcal{A}_n category, whose lines are labelled by nodes of the A_{n-1} Dynkin diagrams with F-symbols:

$$\begin{bmatrix} a & b & c \\ d & e & f \end{bmatrix} = (-1)^p \begin{cases} a & b & c \\ d & e & f \end{cases}_q, \quad q = e^{2\pi i/n},$$

$$p = \frac{1}{2} \left[3(a+b+c+d+e+f)^2 - (a+d)^2 - (b+e)^2 - (c+f)^2 \right].$$
(77)

The q-deformed Wigner 6j-symbols are given in terms of the quantum dimensions $[a] = [a]_q = d_a = \frac{\sin[(2a+1)\pi/n]}{\sin(\pi/n)}$ as follows

$$\begin{cases} a & b & c \\ d & e & f \end{cases}_{q} = \Delta(a, b, c) \,\Delta(a, e, f) \,\Delta(d, b, f) \,\Delta(d, e, c) \times \\ \sum_{z} \frac{(-1)^{z} [z+1]!}{[a+b+d+e-z]! [a+c+d+f-z]! [b+c+e+f-z]!} \times \\ \frac{1}{[-a-b-c+z]! [-c-d-e+z]! [-b-d-f+z]! [-a-e-f+z]!} , \end{cases}$$
(78)

where

$$\Delta(a, b, c) = \begin{cases} \sqrt{\frac{[a+b-c]![a-b+c]![-a+b+c]!}{[1+a+b+c]!}} & \text{if } N_{abc} = 1\\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \,. \end{cases}$$
(79)

For n = 5 we have four lines 1, \widetilde{W} , \widetilde{W}' , $\widetilde{\eta}$ with the following identification:

$$\underbrace{\bigcirc}_{1} \underbrace{\bigcirc}_{\widetilde{W}'} \underbrace{\bigcirc}_{\widetilde{W}} \underbrace{\frown}_{\widetilde{\eta}}$$

$$(80)$$

The fusion algebra of this category is Fib $\times \mathbb{Z}_2$, which is the only possibility for a self-dual fusion category of rank four [118].

Orbifolding this theory by the \mathbb{Z}_2 generated by $\tilde{\eta}$ we obtain a new fusion category, $\mathcal{A}_5/\mathbb{Z}_2$, with the same fusion ring but *inequivalent* to \mathcal{A}_5 at the level of *F*-symbols.³⁵

The interface between these two symmetries has two components -1, W- and transforms in the regular representation under both Fib subcategories, generated by \widetilde{W} and W, respectively. Thus

$$\varphi_{uvw}^{abc} = (\varphi^*)_{\widetilde{u}\widetilde{v}\widetilde{w}}^{abc} = \frac{1}{\mathrm{d}_w\mathrm{d}_b} \begin{bmatrix} v & c & b \\ a & u & w \end{bmatrix}_{\mathrm{Fib}}, \quad a, b, c ; u, v, w \in (1, W),$$
(81)

while both \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetries leave the boundary condition invariant:

$$\varphi_{\eta\eta1}^{aaa} = (\varphi*)_{\tilde{\eta}\tilde{\eta}1}^{aaa} = 1.$$
(82)

Instead of trying to determine the whole structure of the module category, we focus on the input needed for the S-matrix bootstrap, namely dual boundary F-symbols:

$$(\varphi^*)^{abc}_{\widetilde{W}'\widetilde{W}'\widetilde{u}}, \quad u = (1, W).$$
(83)

In particular, we want to show that, in a judicious gauge:

$$(\varphi^*)^{abc}_{\widetilde{W}'\widetilde{W}'\widetilde{u}} = (\varphi^*)^{abc}_{\widetilde{W}\widetilde{W}\widetilde{u}}, \qquad (84)$$

and thus correspond to those of the Fibonacci category. To do this we nucleate a $\tilde{\eta}$ line between two \widetilde{W} lines:

 $\begin{array}{cccc}
\widetilde{W} & \widetilde{W} \\
& & & \\
& & & \\
\hline a & b & c
\end{array}$ (85)

We can resolve this configuration either by shrinking the $\tilde{\eta}$ loop and then joining the \widetilde{W} lines or by the following schematic set of moves:

³⁵In order for them to be equivalent we must have that there exists a line \mathcal{L} such that $\mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L}^{\dagger} = 1 + \tilde{\eta}$ [51]. This is clearly not the case for our example.

leading to the equations:

$$(\varphi^*)^{abc}_{\widetilde{W}\widetilde{W}\widetilde{u}} = \left[d_{\widetilde{W}'} \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{W} & \widetilde{W} & \widetilde{u} \\ \widetilde{W}' & \widetilde{W}' & \widetilde{\eta} \end{bmatrix} (\varphi^*)^{abb}_{\widetilde{W}\widetilde{\eta}\widetilde{W}'} (\varphi^*)^{bbc}_{\widetilde{\eta}\widetilde{W}\widetilde{W}'} \right] (\varphi^*)^{abc}_{\widetilde{W}\widetilde{W}\widetilde{u}}$$
(87)

The combination $d_{\widetilde{W}'}\begin{bmatrix}\widetilde{W}&\widetilde{W}&\widetilde{W}\\\widetilde{W}'&\widetilde{\eta'}&\widetilde{\eta}\end{bmatrix}$ is equal to -1 and can be removed by redefining the bulk $\widetilde{W'}\widetilde{W'}\widetilde{\eta}$ junction. With a bit more work it is also possible to show that $(\varphi^*)^{aab}_{\widetilde{\eta}\widetilde{W}\widetilde{W}'} = (\varphi^*)^{abb}_{\widetilde{W}\widetilde{\eta}\widetilde{W}'}$. Thus transforming the $\widetilde{W'}ab$ junction by a factor $\left[(\varphi^*)^{aab}_{\widetilde{\eta}\widetilde{W}\widetilde{W}'}\right]^{\dagger}$ gives the desired gauge. Let us also discuss the \mathbb{Z}_2 charge of the kink multiplets. This is described by the matrix:

$$[\eta; v]^{ab}_{ab}, \tag{88}$$

which is equal to ± 1 from (82). Since $[\eta; \tilde{\eta}]_{aa}^{aa} = -1$, as the two symmetries are dual of each other we find that $[\eta; \widetilde{W}]_{ab}^{ab} = -[\eta; \widetilde{W}']_{ab}^{ab}$. The fusion rule $\widetilde{W}^2 = 1 + \widetilde{W}$ forces the charge of \widetilde{W} to be 1, so:

$$[\eta; \widetilde{W}']^{ab}_{ab} = -1.$$
(89)

The action of the remaining lines W and W' can be determined from:

$$[u; \tilde{v}]_{ab}^{cd} = \sqrt{\mathbf{d}_a \mathbf{d}_b} \begin{bmatrix} u & a & b \\ v & d & c \end{bmatrix}_{\mathrm{Fib}}, \quad \text{for } u, v, a, b, c, d \in (1, W),$$
(90)

and the knowledge of $\varphi_{\eta WW'}^{abc}$, $(\varphi^*)_{\widetilde{\eta} \widetilde{W} \widetilde{W'}}^{abc}$.

C Normalization of junctions and boundary bubbles

We briefly discuss our choice of normalization that leads to the identity (19). In fusion category (without boundaries), the identity (4) follows from choosing specific normalizations for junction vector spaces [119, Eq. 195] (see also [15]). This choice is isotropic, that is, it allows line junctions to be moved around freely while keeping endpoints fixed. For example:³⁶



Note that, in [49] a different convention is used in which junction spaces are orthonormal: the orthonormal basis can always be constructed using the Gram-Schmidt orthogonalization. This is not isotropic, but it can be made so by rescaling vectors in V_{ab}^c by $\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}_c}{\mathrm{d}_a\mathrm{d}_b}\right)^{-1/4}$.

It is natural to use an isotropic basis even in the presence of boundaries. As explained above, we can construct such a basis by first performing the Gram-Schmidt procedure to obtain an

³⁶This is correct provided we assume trivial Frobenius-Shur indicators for self-dual lines.

orthonormal basis of boundary junctions V_{av}^b , and rescaling them by a factor $\left(\frac{g_a}{g_b d_v}\right)^{-1/4}$. The normalization of the junction vertices then gives,

$$a \bigvee b = a \bigvee b = a \bigvee b = a \bigvee b = \sqrt{d_v g_a g_b}, \qquad (92)$$

which also implies (19).

D More on bootstrap and numerical implementation

In this appendix we give more details on how to optimize primal (dual) functionals $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{F}_d)$. Starting with the primal approach, we choose a linear functional to maximize $\mathcal{F}[S(s)]$. To solve this optimization problem numerically, we write an ansatz for S(s) with the required analyticity and crossing symmetry and impose unitarity separately. To give a concrete example, suppose we want to bound the partial amplitudes at a given energy below threshold $A_{\chi}(s_*)$. For theories without bound states we would write an ansatz of the form

$$A_{\chi}(s) = \sum_{n=0}^{N_{\max}} \left[a_{\chi}^{(n)} \rho_{s_0}^n(s) + C_{\chi\chi'} a_{\chi'}^{(n)} \rho_{s_0}^n(4m^2 - s) \right] , \qquad (93)$$

$$\rho_{s_0}(s) \equiv \frac{\sqrt{4m^2 - s_0} - \sqrt{4m^2 - s}}{\sqrt{4m^2 - s_0} + \sqrt{4m^2 - s}},$$
(94)

where $C_{\chi\chi'}$ is the crossing matrix, s_0 is a subtraction point we are free to choose and $a_{\chi}^{(n)}$ are the variables for the optimization problem. The " ρ -variables" make sure the analytic properties of the amplitude are satisfied, as they put branch points at $s = 0, 4m^2.^{37}$ To impose unitarity we choose a grid of physical values of $s_j \ge 4m^2$ and demand that $|A_{\chi}(s_j)|^2 \le 1$. A convenient choice for the unitarity grid can be written in terms of the zeros of Chebyshev polynomials [23]:

$$s_j = \frac{8m^2}{1 + \cos\phi_j}, \quad \phi_j = \frac{\pi}{2} \left[1 - \cos\left(\frac{2j - 1}{N_{\text{grid}}}\pi\right) \right], \quad j = 1, \dots, N_{\text{grid}},$$
 (95)

which conveniently puts more points close to threshold and infinity.

To find bounds on $A_{\chi}(s_*)$ we can maximize various types of functionals [94]; for instance the "normal" type $\mathcal{F}_{norm} = \sum_{\chi} n_{\chi} A_{\chi}(s_*)$ which highlight the points with more curvature or the "radial" type where we maximize along a given direction $\mathcal{F}_{rad} = t$ with the constraint $A_{\chi}(s_*) = t n_{\chi}$. In either case, we repeat the optimization procedure for many different n_{χ} . For instance, to produce the bounds in Figure 6 we used the normal functionals for 128 n_{χ} 's uniformly distributed on a circle, with $N_{grid} = 2N_{max}$ and $N_{max} = 10.^{38}$

 $^{^{37}}$ These were first used for S-matrix bootstrap in [120] but have their origin in similar variables used in conformal bootstrap introduced in [121].

³⁸The low energy values $A_{\chi}(s_*)$ rapidly converge to the optimal result, however to get a refined picture of the analytic properties of the amplitudes in the *s* plane and large energy behaviour we used $N_{\text{max}} = 30$ at sampled points.

As explained in the main text, this approach explores the space of consistent amplitudes from the inside, by explicitly constructing amplitudes satisfying all axioms but has the bounds are not rigorous, since we might find a larger value for max \mathcal{F} as we vary N_{max} and N_{grid} . In contrast, the dual approach establishes rigorous upper bounds on \mathcal{F} through the minimization of a dual functional \mathcal{F}_d satisfying $\mathcal{F} \leq \mathcal{F}_d$. The dual problem is a standard way to solve convex optimization problems (see e.g. [122] chapter 5) and was worked out in the context of the modern non-perturbative S-matrix bootstrap first in [94] and in subsequent works [24, 25, 95–100].

The idea is to introduce dual variables which act as Lagrange multipliers for the S-matrix constraints. This can be done by writing a Lagrangian \mathscr{L} satisfying $\mathcal{F}[A_{\chi}(s)] \leq \mathscr{L}$ with the following form

$$\mathscr{L} = \mathcal{F}[A_{\chi}(s)] + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{\chi} \oint ds \, K_{\chi}(s) A_{\chi}(s) + \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{\chi} \int_{4m^2}^{\infty} ds \, \lambda_{\chi}(s) \left[1 - |A_{\chi}(s)|^2\right] \,, \tag{96}$$

where $K_{\chi}(s)$ and $\lambda_{\chi}(s) \geq 0$ are respectively the Lagrange multipliers for analyticity+crossing and unitarity. Next we want to find constraints on the dual variables $K_{\chi}(s)$ and $\lambda_{\chi}(s)$ such that the primal variables are eliminated from the problem. In practice, we open up the contour for the first integral and ask that K(s) transforms under crossing as $K_{\chi}(s) = -C_{\chi'\chi}K_{\chi'}(4m^2 - s)$ and falls of at least like $s^{-3/2}$ at infinity so that we can group terms into a single integral over physical values of energy:

$$0 = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{\chi} \oint ds \, K_{\chi}(s) A_{\chi}(s) = \frac{2}{\pi} \sum_{\chi} \int_{4m^2}^{\infty} ds \, \operatorname{Im} \left[K_{\chi}(s) A_{\chi}(s) \right] + \text{possible residues} \,. \tag{97}$$

The possible residues might come from $A_{\chi}(s)$ or $K_{\chi}(s)$, depending on the problem at hand. The point is that we can fix the analytic properties of K(s) so that we cancel the primal functional \mathcal{F} . For the example we had earlier with no bound states we would ask for a pole $K(s) \sim \frac{\tilde{n}_{\chi}/2}{s-s_*}$ (and its crossing image) where the residue satisfies $\tilde{n}_{\chi} = n_{\chi}$ for the normal functional $\mathcal{F}_{\text{norm}}$ and $\sum_{\chi} \tilde{n}_{\chi} n_{\chi} = 1$ for the radial one \mathcal{F}_{rad} . In this way we are left with

$$\mathscr{L} = \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{\chi} \int_{4m^2}^{\infty} ds \left\{ 2 \operatorname{Im} \left[K_{\chi}(s) A_{\chi}(s) \right] + \lambda_{\chi}(s) \left[1 - |A_{\chi}(s)|^2 \right] \right\} ,$$
(98)

which we can now extremize over $A_{\chi}(s)$. The result of the maximization sets $S(s) = iK^*(s)/\lambda(s)$ and gives

$$\max_{A_{\chi}} \mathscr{L} = \frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{\chi} \int_{4m^2}^{\infty} ds \left\{ \frac{|K_{\chi}(s)|^2}{\lambda_{\chi}(s)} + \lambda_{\chi}(s) \right\} \,. \tag{99}$$

The expression above already gives a dual functional that depends only on the Lagrange multipliers. Since we are interested in the best bound possible, we minimize over the dual variables. This can be done trivially for $\lambda(s)$ which results in the dual functional in the main text³⁹

$$\mathcal{F}_{d} \equiv \frac{2}{\pi} \sum_{\chi} \int_{4m^{2}}^{\infty} ds \left| K_{\chi}(s) \right| = \min_{\lambda} \max_{A_{\chi}} \mathscr{L}, \qquad (100)$$

³⁹In the case where there are more constraints in the primal problem, such as fixing the value of the amplitude at a given s, we would need to consider more dual variables/Lagrange multipliers and minimize over them as well which might result in extra terms in the dual functional.

which satisfies $\max_{A_{\chi}} \mathcal{F} \leq \min_{K_{\chi}} \mathcal{F}_d$. Let us stress that by minimizing \mathcal{F}_d we are putting a rigorous upper bound on the original optimization problem. Also, if we find the same result with the primal and dual problems then we can be sure we have the optimal bound.⁴⁰

To perform the dual optimization numerically we follow the same logic: we first write an ansatz for $K_{\chi}(s)$ compatible with analyticity in the cut plane and fall-off at infinity, evaluate the integral by quadrature and finally minimize.

To give a concrete example, let us go back to the case without bound states and set our primal functional to be $\mathcal{F}_{rad} = t$ with $A\chi(s_*) = tn_{\chi}$.⁴¹ We write first the following ansatz

$$K_{\chi}(s) = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{s}\sqrt{4-s}} \sum_{n=0}^{M_{\text{max}}} \left[\frac{1}{s-s_*} b_{\chi}^{(n)} \rho_{s_0}^n(s) - \frac{1}{4m^2 - s - s_*} C_{\chi'\chi} b_{\chi'}^{(n)} \rho_{s_0}^n(4m^2 - s) \right].$$
(101)

To integrate (100) numerically we can use a polynomial approximation. The idea is to transform the integral into a weighted sum of the integrand evaluated at some points in the integration domain:

$$\int_{-1}^{1} dx f(x) \approx \int_{-1}^{1} dx \sum_{i} f(x_{i}) P_{i}(x) = \sum_{i} f(x_{i}) w_{i}, \quad P_{i}(x) = \prod_{j \neq i}^{n} \frac{x - x_{j}}{x_{i} - x_{j}}, \quad w_{i} = \int_{-1}^{1} dx P_{i}(x), \quad (102)$$

where the weights w_i are evaluated using $\int_{-1}^{1} dx \, x^n = \frac{1+(-1)^n}{n+1}$. A suitable change of variables like $x = \frac{2m^2 - \sqrt{s-4m^2}}{2m^2 + \sqrt{s-4m^2}}$ brings the last equation to the form of (100) and the grid points can be for instance (95). The final step is to minimize this discretized integral subject to the constraint $2\sum_{\chi} \operatorname{Res}_{s=s_*} [K_{\chi}(s)] n_{\chi} = 1$, which can be done in e.g. Mathematica. With this method (setting $M_{\max} = 5$ and $N_{\text{grid}} = 30$) we reproduced the bounds presented in the main text so that we know they are optimal.

References

- C. Copetti, L. Cordova and S. Komatsu, Noninvertible Symmetries, Anomalies, and Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 133 (2024) 181601 [2403.04835].
- [2] M.F. Paulos, J. Penedones, J. Toledo, B.C. van Rees and P. Vieira, The S-matrix bootstrap. Part I: QFT in AdS, JHEP 11 (2017) 133 [1607.06109].
- [3] M.F. Paulos, J. Penedones, J. Toledo, B.C. van Rees and P. Vieira, The S-matrix bootstrap II: two dimensional amplitudes, JHEP 11 (2017) 143 [1607.06110].
- [4] F. Kos, D. Poland, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Vichi, Precision Islands in the Ising and O(N) Models, JHEP 08 (2016) 036 [1603.04436].
- [5] D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, Generalized Global Symmetries, JHEP 02 (2015) 172 [1412.5148].
- [6] C.-M. Chang, Y.-H. Lin, S.-H. Shao, Y. Wang and X. Yin, Topological Defect Lines and Renormalization Group Flows in Two Dimensions, JHEP 01 (2019) 026 [1802.04445].

⁴⁰The difference between $\min_{K_{\chi}} \mathcal{F}_d$ and $\max_{A_{\chi}} \mathcal{F}$ is known as duality gap. For convex optimization problems such as the ones we are studying it is enough to find a dual functional satisfying all conditions for the duality gap to close (see Slater's criterion in [122]).

⁴¹This functional has the advantage that one can read off directly the values for $A_{\chi}(s_*)$ after the dual optimization.

- [7] Y. Choi, C. Cordova, P.-S. Hsin, H.T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, Noninvertible duality defects in 3+1 dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 125016 [2111.01139].
- [8] Y. Choi, C. Cordova, P.-S. Hsin, H.T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, Non-invertible Condensation, Duality, and Triality Defects in 3+1 Dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys. 402 (2023) 489 [2204.09025].
- J. Kaidi, K. Ohmori and Y. Zheng, Kramers-Wannier-like Duality Defects in (3+1)D Gauge Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 111601 [2111.01141].
- [10] J. Kaidi, G. Zafrir and Y. Zheng, Non-invertible symmetries of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM and twisted compactification, JHEP 08 (2022) 053 [2205.01104].
- [11] L. Bhardwaj, L.E. Bottini, S. Schafer-Nameki and A. Tiwari, Non-invertible higher-categorical symmetries, SciPost Phys. 14 (2023) 007 [2204.06564].
- [12] J.A. Damia, R. Argurio and L. Tizzano, Continuous Generalized Symmetries in Three Dimensions, JHEP 05 (2023) 164 [2206.14093].
- [13] J.A. Damia, R. Argurio, F. Benini, S. Benvenuti, C. Copetti and L. Tizzano, Non-invertible symmetries along 4d RG flows, JHEP 02 (2024) 084 [2305.17084].
- [14] P. Etingof, S. Gelaki, D. Nikshych and V. Ostrik, *Tensor categories*, vol. 205, American Mathematical Soc. (2016).
- [15] M. Barkeshli, P. Bonderson, M. Cheng and Z. Wang, Symmetry Fractionalization, Defects, and Gauging of Topological Phases, Phys. Rev. B 100 (2019) 115147 [1410.4540].
- [16] D. Aasen, P. Fendley and R.S.K. Mong, Topological Defects on the Lattice: Dualities and Degeneracies, 2008.08598.
- [17] R. Thorngren and Y. Wang, Fusion Category Symmetry I: Anomaly In-Flow and Gapped Phases, 1912.02817.
- [18] Z. Komargodski, K. Ohmori, K. Roumpedakis and S. Seifnashri, Symmetries and strings of adjoint QCD₂, JHEP 03 (2021) 103 [2008.07567].
- [19] T.-C. Huang, Y.-H. Lin and S. Seifnashri, Construction of two-dimensional topological field theories with non-invertible symmetries, JHEP 12 (2021) 028 [2110.02958].
- [20] L. Bhardwaj, L.E. Bottini, D. Pajer and S. Schäfer-Nameki, Gapped Phases with Non-Invertible Symmetries: (1+1)d, 2310.03784.
- [21] C. Cordova, D. García-Sepúlveda and N. Holfester, Particle-Soliton Degeneracies from Spontaneously Broken Non-Invertible Symmetry, 2403.08883.
- [22] A.B. Zamolodchikov, Thermodynamic Bethe Ansatz in Relativistic Models. Scaling Three State Potts and Lee-yang Models, Nucl. Phys. B 342 (1990) 695.
- [23] D. Karateev, S. Kuhn and J.a. Penedones, Bootstrapping Massive Quantum Field Theories, JHEP 07 (2020) 035 [1912.08940].
- [24] M. Correia, J. Penedones and A. Vuignier, Injecting the UV into the bootstrap: Ising Field Theory, JHEP 08 (2023) 108 [2212.03917].
- [25] L. Córdova, M. Correia, A. Georgoudis and A. Vuignier, The O(N) monolith reloaded: sum rules and Form Factor Bootstrap, JHEP 01 (2024) 093 [2311.03031].
- [26] Y. He and M. Kruczenski, Gauge Theory Bootstrap: Pion amplitudes and low energy parameters, 2403.10772.
- [27] Y.-H. Lin and S.-H. Shao, Bootstrapping noninvertible symmetries, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 125025 [2302.13900].
- [28] C. Copetti, L. Córdova and S. Komatsu, In progress, .
- [29] L. Bhardwaj, L.E. Bottini, S. Schafer-Nameki and A. Tiwari, Lattice Models for Phases and Transitions with Non-Invertible Symmetries, 2405.05964.

- [30] A.B. Zamolodchikov, Thermodynamic Bethe ansatz for RSOS scattering theories, Nucl. Phys. B 358 (1991) 497.
- [31] F.A. Smirnov, Exact S matrices for phi(1,2) perturbated minimal models of conformal field theory, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 6 (1991) 1407.
- [32] C. Cordova, N. Holfester and K. Ohmori, Representation Theory of Solitons, 2408.11045.
- [33] Y. Choi, B. Rayhaun and Y. Zheng, Generalized tube algebras, symmetry-resolved partition functions, and twisted boundary states, 2409.02159.
- [34] L. Bhardwaj, C. Copetti, D. Pajer and S. Schafer-Nameki, Boundary SymTFT, 2409.02166.
- [35] S. Schafer-Nameki, ICTP lectures on (non-)invertible generalized symmetries, Phys. Rept. 1063 (2024) 1 [2305.18296].
- [36] S.-H. Shao, What's Done Cannot Be Undone: TASI Lectures on Non-Invertible Symmetries, 2308.00747.
- [37] L. Bhardwaj, L.E. Bottini, L. Fraser-Taliente, L. Gladden, D.S.W. Gould, A. Platschorre et al., Lectures on generalized symmetries, Phys. Rept. 1051 (2024) 1 [2307.07547].
- [38] C. Copetti, Defect Charges, Gapped Boundary Conditions, and the Symmetry TFT, 2408.01490.
- [39] I. Hason, Z. Komargodski and R. Thorngren, Anomaly Matching in the Symmetry Broken Phase: Domain Walls, CPT, and the Smith Isomorphism, SciPost Phys. 8 (2020) 062 [1910.14039].
- [40] C. Córdova, K. Ohmori, S.-H. Shao and F. Yan, Decorated Z₂ symmetry defects and their time-reversal anomalies, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 045019 [1910.14046].
- [41] Y.-H. Lin and S.-H. Shao, Anomalies and Bounds on Charged Operators, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 025013 [1904.04833].
- [42] G.W. Moore and N. Seiberg, Classical and Quantum Conformal Field Theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 123 (1989) 177.
- [43] P. Etingof, D. Nikshych and V. Ostrik, On fusion categories, Annals of mathematics (2005) 581.
- [44] V. Ostrik, Module categories over the Drinfeld double of a finite group, math/0202130.
- [45] A. Kitaev and L. Kong, Models for Gapped Boundaries and Domain Walls, Commun. Math. Phys. 313 (2012) 351 [1104.5047].
- [46] T. Lan and X.-G. Wen, Topological quasiparticles and the holographic bulk-edge relation in (2+1) -dimensional string-net models, Phys. Rev. B 90 (2014) 115119 [1311.1784].
- [47] J.C. Bridgeman and D. Barter, Computing data for Levin-Wen with defects, Quantum 4 (2020) 277 [1907.06692].
- [48] A. Bullivant and C. Delcamp, Gapped boundaries and string-like excitations in (3+1)d gauge models of topological phases, JHEP 07 (2021) 025 [2006.06536].
- [49] J. Fuchs, I. Runkel and C. Schweigert, TFT construction of RCFT correlators 1. Partition functions, Nucl. Phys. B 646 (2002) 353 [hep-th/0204148].
- [50] Y. Choi, B.C. Rayhaun, Y. Sanghavi and S.-H. Shao, Remarks on boundaries, anomalies, and noninvertible symmetries, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 125005 [2305.09713].
- [51] O. Diatlyk, C. Luo, Y. Wang and Q. Weller, Gauging non-invertible symmetries: topological interfaces and generalized orbifold groupoid in 2d QFT, JHEP 03 (2024) 127 [2311.17044].
- [52] V. Ostrik, Module categories, weak hopf algebras and modular invariants, Transformation groups 8 (2003) 177.
- [53] A. Davydov, Modular invariants for group-theoretical modular data. i, Journal of Algebra 323 (2010) 1321.

- [54] E. Meir and E. Musicantov, Module categories over graded fusion categories, Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra 216 (2012) 2449.
- [55] T.-C. Huang and Y.-H. Lin, Topological field theory with Haagerup symmetry, J. Math. Phys. 63 (2022) 042306 [2102.05664].
- [56] V.A. Fateev and A.B. Zamolodchikov, Integrable perturbations of ZN parafermion models and the O(3) sigma model, Phys. Lett. B 271 (1991) 91.
- [57] S.-J. Huang and M. Cheng, Topological holography, quantum criticality, and boundary states, 2310.16878.
- [58] D.S. Freed, G.W. Moore and C. Teleman, *Topological symmetry in quantum field theory*, 2209.07471.
- [59] E. Witten, AdS / CFT correspondence and topological field theory, JHEP 12 (1998) 012 [hep-th/9812012].
- [60] L. Bhardwaj and S. Schafer-Nameki, Generalized Charges, Part II: Non-Invertible Symmetries and the Symmetry TFT, 2305.17159.
- [61] T. Bartsch, M. Bullimore and A. Grigoletto, *Representation theory for categorical symmetries*, 2305.17165.
- [62] A. Antinucci, F. Benini, C. Copetti, G. Galati and G. Rizi, Anomalies of non-invertible self-duality symmetries: fractionalization and gauging, 2308.11707.
- [63] C. Cordova, P.-S. Hsin and C. Zhang, Anomalies of Non-Invertible Symmetries in (3+1)d, 2308.11706.
- [64] A. Chatterjee and X.-G. Wen, Holographic theory for continuous phase transitions: Emergence and symmetry protection of gaplessness, Phys. Rev. B 108 (2023) 075105 [2205.06244].
- [65] L. Bhardwaj, D. Pajer, S. Schafer-Nameki and A. Warman, Hasse Diagrams for Gapless SPT and SSB Phases with Non-Invertible Symmetries, 2403.00905.
- [66] F. Apruzzi, F. Bonetti, I.n. García Etxebarria, S.S. Hosseini and S. Schafer-Nameki, Symmetry TFTs from String Theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 402 (2023) 895 [2112.02092].
- [67] M. Del Zotto and I.n. García Etxebarria, Global structures from the infrared, JHEP 11 (2023) 058 [2204.06495].
- [68] F. Apruzzi, I. Bah, F. Bonetti and S. Schafer-Nameki, Noninvertible Symmetries from Holography and Branes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 121601 [2208.07373].
- [69] A. Antinucci, F. Benini, C. Copetti, G. Galati and G. Rizi, *The holography of non-invertible self-duality symmetries*, 2210.09146.
- [70] A. Antinucci and F. Benini, Anomalies and gauging of U(1) symmetries, 2401.10165.
- [71] T.D. Brennan and Z. Sun, A SymTFT for Continuous Symmetries, 2401.06128.
- [72] F. Bonetti, M. Del Zotto and R. Minasian, SymTFTs for Continuous non-Abelian Symmetries, 2402.12347.
- [73] F. Apruzzi, F. Bedogna and N. Dondi, SymTh for non-finite symmetries, 2402.14813.
- [74] A. Antinucci, F. Benini and G. Rizi, Holographic duals of symmetry broken phases, 2408.01418.
- [75] J. Kaidi, K. Ohmori and Y. Zheng, Symmetry TFTs for Non-invertible Defects, Commun. Math. Phys. 404 (2023) 1021 [2209.11062].
- [76] R. Argurio, F. Benini, M. Bertolini, G. Galati and P. Niro, On the Symmetry TFT of Yang-Mills-Chern-Simons theory, 2404.06601.
- [77] D.-C. Lu, Z. Sun and Z. Zhang, Exploring G-ality defects in 2-dim QFTs, 2406.12151.

- [78] S. Franco and X. Yu, Generalized Symmetries in 2D from String Theory: SymTFTs, Intrinsic Relativeness, and Anomalies of Non-invertible Symmetries, 2404.19761.
- [79] E. Nardoni, M. Sacchi, O. Sela, G. Zafrir and Y. Zheng, Dimensionally Reducing Generalized Symmetries from (3+1)-Dimensions, 2403.15995.
- [80] M. Del Zotto, S.N. Meynet and R. Moscrop, *Remarks on Geometric Engineering, Symmetry TFTs and Anomalies*, 2402.18646.
- [81] F. Apruzzi, F. Bonetti, D.S.W. Gould and S. Schafer-Nameki, Aspects of Categorical Symmetries from Branes: SymTFTs and Generalized Charges, 2306.16405.
- [82] J. Kaidi, E. Nardoni, G. Zafrir and Y. Zheng, Symmetry TFTs and anomalies of non-invertible symmetries, JHEP 10 (2023) 053 [2301.07112].
- [83] A. Kapustin and N. Saulina, Surface operators in 3d Topological Field Theory and 2d Rational Conformal Field Theory, 1012.0911.
- [84] A. Kapustin and N. Saulina, Topological boundary conditions in abelian Chern-Simons theory, Nucl. Phys. B 845 (2011) 393 [1008.0654].
- [85] L. Kong, Anyon condensation and tensor categories, Nucl. Phys. B 886 (2014) 436 [1307.8244].
- [86] J. Kaidi, Z. Komargodski, K. Ohmori, S. Seifnashri and S.-H. Shao, Higher central charges and topological boundaries in 2+1-dimensional TQFTs, SciPost Phys. 13 (2022) 067 [2107.13091].
- [87] F. Benini, C. Copetti and L. Di Pietro, Factorization and global symmetries in holography, SciPost Phys. 14 (2023) 019 [2203.09537].
- [88] C. Itzykson and J.B. Zuber, *Quantum Field Theory*, International Series In Pure and Applied Physics, McGraw-Hill, New York (1980).
- [89] M. Kruczenski, J. Penedones and B.C. van Rees, *Snowmass White Paper: S-matrix Bootstrap*, 2203.02421.
- [90] L.D. Landau, On analytic properties of vertex parts in quantum field theory, Nucl. Phys. 13 (1959) 181.
- [91] R.E. Cutkosky, Singularities and discontinuities of Feynman amplitudes, J. Math. Phys. 1 (1960) 429.
- [92] J. Bros, H. Epstein and V. Glaser, A proof of the crossing property for two-particle amplitudes in general quantum field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 1 (1965) 240.
- [93] S. Caron-Huot, M. Giroux, H.S. Hannesdottir and S. Mizera, Crossing beyond scattering amplitudes, JHEP 04 (2024) 060 [2310.12199].
- [94] L. Córdova, Y. He, M. Kruczenski and P. Vieira, The O(N) S-matrix Monolith, JHEP 04 (2020) 142 [1909.06495].
- [95] A.L. Guerrieri, A. Homrich and P. Vieira, Dual S-matrix bootstrap. Part I. 2D theory, JHEP 11 (2020) 084 [2008.02770].
- [96] M. Kruczenski and H. Murali, The R-matrix bootstrap for the 2d O(N) bosonic model with a boundary, JHEP 04 (2021) 097 [2012.15576].
- [97] Y. He and M. Kruczenski, S-matrix bootstrap in 3+1 dimensions: regularization and dual convex problem, JHEP 08 (2021) 125 [2103.11484].
- [98] J. Elias Miró and A. Guerrieri, Dual EFT bootstrap: QCD flux tubes, JHEP 10 (2021) 126 [2106.07957].
- [99] A. Guerrieri and A. Sever, Rigorous Bounds on the Analytic S Matrix, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 251601 [2106.10257].
- [100] A. Guerrieri, A. Homrich and P. Vieira, Multiparticle Flux Tube S-matrix Bootstrap, 2404.10812.

- [101] D. Bernard and A. Leclair, Residual Quantum Symmetries of the Restricted Sine-Gordon Theories, Nucl. Phys. B 340 (1990) 721.
- [102] P. Fendley, H. Saleur and A.B. Zamolodchikov, Massless flows, 2. The Exact S matrix approach, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 8 (1993) 5751 [hep-th/9304051].
- [103] A. Homrich, J.a. Penedones, J. Toledo, B.C. van Rees and P. Vieira, The S-matrix Bootstrap IV: Multiple Amplitudes, JHEP 11 (2019) 076 [1905.06905].
- [104] C. Bercini, M. Fabri, A. Homrich and P. Vieira, S-matrix bootstrap: Supersymmetry, Z₂, and Z₄ symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 045022 [1909.06453].
- [105] L. Córdova and P. Vieira, Adding flavour to the S-matrix bootstrap, JHEP 12 (2018) 063 [1805.11143].
- [106] U. Haagerup, Principal graphs of subfactors in the index range $4 < [m:n] < 3 + \sqrt{2}$, Subfactors (Kyuzeso, 1993) 1 (1994).
- [107] P. Grossman and N. Snyder, Quantum subgroups of the haagerup fusion categories, Communications in Mathematical Physics **311** (2012) 617.
- [108] T.-C. Huang, Y.-H. Lin, K. Ohmori, Y. Tachikawa and M. Tezuka, Numerical Evidence for a Haagerup Conformal Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 231603 [2110.03008].
- [109] R. Vanhove, L. Lootens, M. Van Damme, R. Wolf, T.J. Osborne, J. Haegeman et al., Critical Lattice Model for a Haagerup Conformal Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 231602 [2110.03532].
- [110] U. Mehta, S. Minwalla, C. Patel, S. Prakash and K. Sharma, Crossing Symmetry in Matter Chern-Simons Theories at finite N and k, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 27 (2023) 193 [2210.07272].
- [111] C. Csaki, S. Hong, Y. Shirman, O. Telem, J. Terning and M. Waterbury, *Scattering amplitudes for monopoles: pairwise little group and pairwise helicity*, *JHEP* 08 (2021) 029 [2009.14213].
- [112] M. van Beest, P. Boyle Smith, D. Delmastro, Z. Komargodski and D. Tong, Monopoles, Scattering, and Generalized Symmetries, 2306.07318.
- [113] M. van Beest, P. Boyle Smith, D. Delmastro, R. Mouland and D. Tong, Fermion-Monopole Scattering in the Standard Model, 2312.17746.
- [114] V.B. Petkova and J.B. Zuber, Generalized twisted partition functions, Phys. Lett. B 504 (2001) 157 [hep-th/0011021].
- [115] K. Kikuchi, Symmetry enhancement in RCFT, 2109.02672.
- [116] K. Kikuchi, Symmetry enhancement in RCFT II, 2207.06433.
- [117] T. Tanaka and Y. Nakayama, Infinitely many new renormalization group flows between Virasoro minimal models from non-invertible symmetries, 2407.21353.
- [118] J.C. Dong, L.Y. Zhang and L. Dai, Non-trivially graded self-dual fusion categories of rank 4, Acta Mathematica Sinica, English Series 34 (2018) 275.
- [119] A. Kitaev, Anyons in an exactly solved model and beyond, Annals Phys. **321** (2006) 2 [cond-mat/0506438].
- [120] M.F. Paulos, J. Penedones, J. Toledo, B.C. van Rees and P. Vieira, The S-matrix bootstrap. Part III: higher dimensional amplitudes, JHEP 12 (2019) 040 [1708.06765].
- [121] M. Hogervorst and S. Rychkov, Radial Coordinates for Conformal Blocks, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 106004 [1303.1111].
- [122] S. Boyd and L. Vandenberghe, *Convex optimization*, Cambridge university press (2004).